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JAMATCA

IM TFEE COWT OF APPEAL

SUPREME COURT CIVIL APPEAL NO., 15/87

BEFORE: THE HOM. MR. JUSTICE KERR, J.A.
TFE MON. MR, JUSTICE CARBERRY, J.A.
TYE FON. #R, JUSTICE FO5S5, J.A.

BETWEEN: W. BENTLEY BROWN* - PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT
AN D : RAPFAEL DILLON )

- DEFLNDANTS/RESPONDENTS
A ND : CHEBA VASSELL )

Mr. B. Macaulay, 0.C. instructed by Mr. R. L. Francis
for the rlaintiff/appellant.

sir. R, Fairclough instructed by Thwaites, Fairclough,
Watson § Co. for the defendants/respondents,

February 3 § 6 1224 and February 18, 1985

CARBERRY, J.A.:

This is an appeal from the judgment of Downer, J.
delivered on the 10th of March, 1883 after three days of hearins
on the 7th, 8tk and 9th March, 1983. The judgment was an oral
one, but we have a note of the judgment which has been approved
and signed by Downer, J. It was in favour of the defendants/
respondents, (hereinafter called the clients).

The action was begun by a writ, with an accompanying
statement of claim, both dated the 14th of March, 1973. In it
the plaintiff, tir. W. Bentley Brown, a barrister-at-law and
duly entered on the Roll as an attorney-at-law under The Legal
Profession Act, sued the two Jdefendants to recover the sum of
$39,000.00 (J) fees due for having defended the defendant
Dillon before the Supreme Court of Bermuda on charges of con-
spiracy to import into that country a "controlled drug"
(camn@bis or ganja) and actually importing it into that countryv.

Dillon was charped with another accused named Errol A. ¥Williams,
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and Bxhibit 3, 2 "rulinsg” in writing made by Mr. Justice Seaton
of the Supreme Court of Bermuda in the case asainst the two
accused men states that Mr. Brown and Mr. Michael Mello appeared
for both accused. The defendant Sheba Vassell was the mistress
of the defendant Dillon and the statement of claim alleged that
she, in Jamaica on the 14th February, 1978 on behalf of Dillon
(who was then in prison in Bermuda awaiting trial) retained the
services of Mr. Rrown to represent and conduct Dillon‘s defence
at the preliminary enquiry and trial on those charges, for a

fee of (J) $40,000.00. The statement of claim alleges thet that
oral agreement made by Sheba Vassell on behalf of Dillon was
ratified by a written agreement made by Dillon in Bermuda on the
24th Anril, 1978. The evidence showed that it was signed by
Dillon in the cells of the Court-house as the trial was due to
commence. (The written agreement actually set the fee at

G.S.$20,000.00 but the case has been conducted on the basis that

the fee was (J) $40,000.00). The statement of claim alleged that

the defendants (Vassell and Dillon) paid J§1,000.00 leaving a

balance of J§39,000.00 unnaid. and both are sued for this sum.

The statement of claim alleges that the trial lasted three weeks.

tNothing is said there as to the preliminary encuiry. This then
is an action brought by an attorney-at-law of the Jamaican Bar
“or the recovery of fees said to be due for services rendered
by him to a client in the island of Bermuda.

The two defendants filed a joint defence, settled on the
5th October, 1979, 1In it the defendant Sheba Vassell in effect
says "I made no agreement with Mr. Brown in Jamaica. I made
only an inquiry. I had neither money nor authority." The
alleged oral agrecement is therefore denied. As to the written
agreement of 24th April, 1978, the defendant Dillon says, in

effect, “that I did sign 'a piece of paver' while in custody,
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but I did not read it, and I was induced to sign it by a
revresentation made to me by the nlaintiff, Mr. Brown, that
he was in contact with a juror, and that if the juror received
the sum of §5,000.00he would puarantee acquittal.” Dillon
admits that lMr. Prown did appear at the trial, but says this was
on behalf of the co-accused Errol ililliams. If Exhibit 3 shows
him as awvpearing for Pillon alsc, this says Dillon was not due
to any oral or written agreement made between the defendants
and the plaintiff. Fe also denied ever having paid $1,000.00
on account. In short the defendants allege that !Mr. Brown was
not Dillon's lawyer, and that no fees were due. As to the
written agreement Dillon appears tc set up the defences of non
est factum, or alternatively that it was made on an illegal
consideratior, to bribe the jury or a juror.

At the trial the written decument (to use a neutral term)

was put in evidence as Exhibit 1: it reads thus:

“I, RAPFAEL CONSTAMTINZ DILLON do hereby retain
kir, Walter Bentley Brown, 0.C. of the Jamaican
Bar to conduct my Defence at my Trial for Con-
spiracy and Importing cannabis into Bermuda, in
the Suvnreme Court of Bermuda commencing Z24th
Anril, 1578 and agree to pay to Mr. W. Bentley
8rown the sum of Twenty thousand U.S. Dollars
(L.5.520,000.00) for his professional services
by 30th May, 1978 in full.

Dated this Z4th day of April, 1978.
RAPFAEL COMSTANTINE DILLONY

A renly was filed to the defence: it exhibited the
document of the 24th Anril, 1978; it asserted that Dillon read,
understood and signed the document in the presence of the
defendant Sheba Vassell before the jury of twelve were empa-
nelled, and it denied the allecation of any representation
about bribing the jury. The reply alleges that Williams the
co-defendant paid his fees (unspecified), but that Dillon did
not. It adds a new allegation, that Dillon gave Sheba Vassell

oral instructions on the last day of the three week trial to
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secure the unpaid balance of fees from the Victoria ifutual
“uilding Society and pay them to the plaintiff before the 30th
May, 1978,

The outline of the evidence that appears below is taken
from the judge's notes of the evidence. In his evidence
Mr. Brown stated that he had becn in nrivate practice since
1966; that Sheba Vassell on the 14th February, 1¢78 cane to
his office and said she would like him to represent her commorn
law husband Pillon at a preliminary enquiry and any trial which
might ensue. Dillon was then in custody in Bermudz, having
been extradited there from Jamaica. Mr. Brown says he accepted
this retainer and told her the fee would be U.5.520,000.00 or
J340,000.00. Mr. Prown stated that she returned some days
later, not having been able to make arrancemengs for payment
but asking him to wait till he went over for the preliminary
examination or enquiry scheduled for the 6th March when a
substantial amount would be paid.

Fe agreed to this after making certain phone calls, and
observes that one was to Mr, Miller of J.C. Smith "which firm
ﬁas now to instruct me," adding that in Eermuda it is cobligatory
that I be instructed by attorney in a Court appearance. The
significance of this remark was nct explored at the trial, but
was canvassed on the ampeal as will be seen later. Mr., Brown
went to Bermuda on 6th March, 1578 and met Dillon for the first
time. Fe put in an appearance at the enquiry, but did not
represent DNillon then, as one Shirley Simmons was representing
him there. "I associated myself with Simmons at the preliminary.”

(It is not clear what exactly this remark means, but it
is necessary to note that the fee of §49,000.00 which ¥r. Brown
states was agreed was to cover ‘‘the preliminary enquiry and any
trial which ma2y follow."” At that stage it could not be known

for certain that there would be a consequential trial, yet the
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fee was to cover both! Fe did not “remresent”™ Dillon at the
enauiry, but that had no effect on the fee!).

To continue Mr, Brown's evidence: Dillon was on 6th
“arch, 1972 committed to stand trial on 24th April, 197%&.
Hr. Brown left Rermuda on the &th tfarch, the same Jday on which
ne had arrived. It is to be gathered from his evidence that
on that day, presumably after the przliminary enquiry had
ended, he interviewed Dillon. TFe agreed to renresent him at

the trial for the same L.S£.520,000.00 or J%40,30C

[on}

.09 nreviously

i

mentioned to Sheba Vassell in Jamaica, as covering both preli-

minary enguiry and ncssible trial. W¥Mr. Brown states that

Dillon told him he did not want Miss Simmcns, and therefore
asked him to renresent him. This seems at variance with

Mdr. Brown comine tc Rermuda already retained by Sheba Vassell
on behalf of Dillon. It suggests that Dillon in Bermuda had
made his own arrangsements otherwise,

Two things should be noticed at this stace: Dillon was
in custody, and Mr. Erown was already represecnting the co-
accused Errecl Williams.

Yr. Brown states that at that conversation with Dillon
they discussed how the fees would be provided, and arranging
nayment in Jamaica before the trial date. The discussions as
to payment were continued with Sheba Vassell who returned to
Jamaica after the oreliminary enquiry. No money was forthcoming,
the arrangements did not materialize.

Nevertheless Mr. Brown rcturned to Bermuda for the trial
on the 24th April, 1978: he was representing Errol Williams.
Mr. Brown states that he again interviewed Dillen, and payment
of fees was discussed. Dillon asked for time till the 30th
May, which would presumably be a date after the trial was over.

'r. Brown then dictated and had prepared the written document

dated the 24th April, 1978 set out above. It speaks in the
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aresent tense, and arpguably, leaving aside Dillon's account
of it, it renresents the retainer of MYy, Brown, as ownposed to
mere discussions as to whether he would be willing to accept
2 retainer; and if so on what terms as to fees and payment.
aving had the document prenared outside the lock up, WMr. Brown%
returned with it and Dillon signed it. Mr. Brdwn says in
evidence that this fee was to cover hotel expenses, travelling,
and also re-imbursement for his instructing attorney. No such
person 1s mentioned in the document. Put Mr. Erown remarks:
“I had to pay instructing attorney otherwise I would not be
cllowed to appear at trial.” He states that h@ represcnted
Dillon at the trial which lasted three weeks. Fe also says thaﬁ
he received from one Tuzo U.5.8500.00 (or Jamaican $1,000.00)
towards fees of DNillon. This was on the first day of trial., No
cther vayment had been made since. |

The dccument of 24th April, 1978, describes Mr. Brown
2s a Oueen'’s Counsel. That document was prepared by him. It
is not true that Mr. Brown is a Queen'’s Counsel. In cross-
examination lir. Brown admitted this, but said that he was so
styled in Bermuda. Once again this suggests that Mr. Brown was

appearing in Bermuda as a Barrister-at-Law, but the matter was

never pursued below, and the circumstances of his qualification
zad capacity to practice in RBermuda were never resolved. Fe

snheaks of "my lawyer®, that is his instructing attorney in

sermuda, indicating that the fees were to be sei to include both
vreliminary and trial, yet the fee had alrcady been fixed in
Jamaica according to Mr. Brown's account of his interview with
Sheba Vassell! It appears from Mr. Brown's evidence, which is
far from clear on this point, that he had two instructing
attorneys, one on behalf of Williams, and another on behalf of

nillon. It appears that both have been paid; the attorncy
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instructing on behalf of Dillon having collected his fee out
0of other moneys that he was holding for Mr. Brown. Yet he
also advanced the $1,000.00 which Mr. Brown says was received
on account of the fee of [40,000.00. Perhaps the explanation
is that Mr. Brown was giving his evidence some five years
after the event, and apparently without the aid of any written
notes other than Exhibit 1, the document of the 24th April,
1872, Fis memory of the exact details may well have become
blurred.

Mr. Brown was extensively cross-examined as to the
circumstances surrounding the making of Exhibit 1. le denied
that it was made and signed some two or more days after the caso
had begun. Fe admitted that it was he who dated the document.
fe denied the suggestion that its object was to reassure a
iuror or some of the jurors that their promised bribe would be
forthcoming. l!e was also cross-examined as to a meeting that
took place long after the trial and which seems to have involved
Mr, Brown, Dillen, and one Mr. Smith and to have taken place in
Jamaica.

To the Court Mr. Brown stated that Dillon was in his
cell when he spoke to him and nointed out that he had not
recelved his fees; Dillon asked for time to pay and #r. Brown
then went away and had Exhibit 1 prepared and brought it back
for signature. Sheba Vassell was not present when Pillon signed
the document, as she was not allowed into the cell. She had
been left at the back door of the Court. (This appears to
contradict thc allegation in para. 4 of the reply, that the
locument was signed in the presence of the second defendant).

This concluded the case for the plaintiff Mr. Brown. Illo
supporting evidence was called, as for cxample the Bermudan

attorney who instructed lir. Brown.

S
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the cells and told him that he was attending a party on the
Saturday at which he exrected to meet the foreman of the jury
and hinted that hewould contact him. On the Monday following,
Mr. Brown came tc¢ him in the cells and told him‘in éffect

that the foreman and he had had discussions. Sbme seven
jurors were aoreed to give a not guilty verdict; and two others
might also agree. During the lunch adjournment Mr. Brown again |

visited him in the cells, and talked of money needed to pay

the juror, and mentioned }5,000.00. This was toc be paid to

Mr. Brown about three weeks after. Mr. Brown produ#ed a paper
which he was tc sign to assure the jury that théir &oney was
secure. fe signed it. He did not read it nor was it read to
him. DPillon states that this (tribing the jury) wa$ his only
hope. Fe knew he was guilty. Fis hope was not:reaiized. Fe
records that the jury found him guilty, and he received a senton#e
of either twelve years or five years (the notes‘sho& beth ?
figures). Fe had up to that time already been in cdstody for |
over nine months. Fe was released (and deported in 1980, when |
he came back to Jamaica. ‘

Dillon stated that some weeks after he had réturned to
Jamaica after havine served his sentence in Bermuda; Mr. Brown %
visited him, demanded his fees, and presumably showéd him the
decument, Exhibit 1. Dillon says that it was then that he
became aware for the first time of what it was he héd signed.
Fe suggested a visit to a Mr. Smith for further discussion, in
which, according to him when the allegation of bribing the jury
was mentionced Mr. Smith remarked “Bentley you try a@other shot" i

and Brown replied that that was long ago.

To the Court, Dillon said he had never asked Sheba Vassell

to have ¥r. Brown represent him. Fe had first met and heard |
: |

of him at the preliminary enquiry in Bermuda. Fe dﬂd not

request or ask Mr. Trown to represent him, (it is ndt clear



N

N

1 | | j E%M%f
-10-

whether this relates to the ovening day of the trial or

|
senerally)} he sizned the document because he felt he would be |
| J

locked up (found guilty) if he did not sign it. |

7illon in cross-examination admitted that Sheba Wassell
was the mother of his children, but denied that he everﬁasked ;

|
her to find him a Jamaican attorney to defend him, Ie %anted

Mr, Ramsay, who had appeared for him at the extradition]

| j

proceedings in Jamaica at a fee of $20,000.00 (J.).j Hefhad made |

!
his own arrancements for his defence with /iss Simmonsfin

3ermuda and paid her $1,500.00, and agreed a fee with her for

| |
the trial of $6,000.00. Fe did not read the document that he |

W g

|
signed. Fe knew that the suggestion of bribing the juTy was

wrong, but he wanted to get out. | ‘

Sheba Vassell in her evidence admitted that sheghad

|
visited Mr. Brown at his office, but said this related to some
J

chairs that had got broken (by the police) when Dillod‘was
|

arrested. She did not approach ¥r. Brown to defend Dillon, but |

on Mr. Brown's return from Bermuda after the preliminary enguiry
|

he had told her that Dillon wanted him to renresent h%my as he

was already representing Williams, and that his fee w¢u1d be

£40,000,00 or $20,000.00 (U.S.). She said that Mr, R%msay had

charged $20,000.0C for three lawyers: implying that sbe thought

“r. Brown's proposed charge was too high. She evidenkly went

|

back on a second occasion taking with her two friend# to hear
[ .
and confirm that that was the fee Mr. Brown was prop751ng. She

J
herself had made no agreement with Mr. Brown as to r%talnlng |

him for the defence of Dillon.
I

The ijudpe's notes of evidence do not record aﬁything of
!

the addresses made to him on behalf of the parties, but these

seem to be reflected in the Note made of his oral juﬁgment.
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|
The trial judge seems to have seen the case as linvolving

two questions: (a) Did Sheba Vassell make any contracd

retaining the plaintiff to conduct the Aefence of‘Dilﬂon in
|
|

Bermuda; and (b) "Was Raphael Dillon liable on the prjmissory

note to pay lr. Browa the equivalent of US{20,000.00 for legal

|
- - - - - - ‘
services connected with the criminal trial which lasted for

two weeks in Bermuda?”
Am———— |
|

As to (a) Downer, J. found that no agreement w?s made by
Sheba Vassell to retain Mr. Prown as alleged, and thar in any
event Sheba Vassell would not herself have been liabl% if such
a contract had been made, she being a mere agent. |

This means that the trial judge rejected Mr. B#own’s

|

evidence on this point, as also allegations made ther%on in the
!

statement of claim, r

i
Mr. Brown in his notice and grounds of appeal}challenged
this finding both as to fact and as to the law. At Jhe hearinyg

J
before us however wiser counsel prevailed. This secﬂion of the
|

appeal was abandoned, and the only arpgument that aro%enms as to
the question of the liability for costs in respect oﬁ the

defendant/respondent Sheba Vassell. The judgment in}her favour
|

will stand. The question of her costs will be discufsed here-
\
|
|

after,

This left for decision the point which Downer, J.

formulated as (b) above. Perhaps as this was an orah judgment

|
the learned judge did not formulate his findings on Fhe facts

s carefully as he might otherwise have done, but rthed forward

to consider what he thought was the essence of the case. This

has resulted unfortunately in a number of issues th#t were
raised ncot receiving the consideration which they d%served. It
may be that in view of the conclusion at which he aﬁrived the
learned judge did not think it necessary to reach a{conclusion

|
|
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on sorie of those issues. YWe must now however attempt to see
what conclusions he did reach either expressly or im@liedly.
The first issue is the obvious and fundamental one:
Did Mr. Brown represent Dillon at (i) the preliminarf enquiry
of the 6th March, 1978, and or (ii) at his trial in Bérmuda,
which commenced on the 24th April, 1978?
lr. Brown has not been consistent in his evidénce and

pleadings on this point: he pleaded that he was engaéed to

represent Dillon at both, and that he apvneared for him at both.

in his evidence however, though he attended the preliminary
enquiry he represented the other accused on that occésion,he
did not represent Dillon then, but was content to ”associate
himself with Miss Simmons at the preliminary'. Fe asserts
however that at the trial, on the basis of the docum?nt of the

24th Anril, 1978, he represented Dillon throughout the trial.

Dillon pleaded that Mr. Brown was never his lawyer, that

he appeared only for the other accused Williams, andithat he
signed the document of the 24th April, 1978 at a much later
date and 4id not intend in signing it to retain Mr, Brown, In
his evidence however he states that Mr. Brown approached him on
the morning of the trial, suggested that he should t@ke over
the defence as he was already appearing for Williamﬂ, and that
ne (Dillon) should terminate the services of Miss Simmons who
nad appeared for him at the preliminary enquiry and was due to
appear in the trial also. Dillon states that he acqepted this
suggestion, in that he terminated Hiss Simmons’ retéiner, and

it must logically follow that he also accepted the #uggestion

and thereafter employed Mr. Brown to represent him.  Exhibit 3,

+he written ruling made by Seaton, J. at the trial on the
24th April, 1978, shows that the trial judge understood that

iessrs. Brown and Mello appeared for both accused.
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Dillon states however that no terms were ever ag
to the document of 24th April, 1978, though he signed
was of the view that it was a step to be used in the »
of bribing the jury. The learned trial judge made no
on this evidence, ad he accerted Dillon's evidence i
have provided a short answer to the plaintiff's claim:
document was non est factum, i.e. it was not the docun
client Dillon; and that in any event the whole transac
fraudulent, and that ex turvi causa non oritur actio:
could be brought on a fraudulent transaction. While 2
to arrive at a conclusion of this sort as to the condu
member of the legal profession is understandable, the
been raised, and the learned judge did not reject it.
should have been a finding one way or the other. DNot
resolve it in favour of Mr. Brown is only a little les
The

than a finding against him would have been. failu

make a finding puts this Court in a difficult positioq

|
basis should we proceed? The trial judge does seem to
the document was read to Dillon by Mr. Brown, who apne
date., It must we think be necessary to proceed, on th

that the judge did not accept the evidence of Dillon,

i
|
i

#eed. As
its he
%ocess
%inding

% would
that the
ent of the
tion was

no action
reluctance
ct of a
issue had
There

to

s odious

re to

. On what
find that
nded the

e basis

and that

he impliedly found that the document of the 24th Aprii
|
a document that had been signed on that date, and that

represented in the terms of the Legal Profession Act,

21 (1) an agrecement in writing between an attorney and
to the amount and manner of payment of fees for the le
business to be done by the attorney, namely the conduc
Dillon's defence at his trial in Bermuda.

Such a finding would then raise the third issue

decided, either at equity or common law, or under the

1978 was

it
Section
client as
gal

v

t of

to be

Act: was

the agreement void or voidable for undue influence? or under

the Act was it "unfair and unreasonable'?
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It was to this third issue that the trial judge

his mind.

{
|
i

|
pddressed

In effect he found the following points: (a) that

Dillon was in custody (and had been so {e¢c¢ some months) at the

time that he made the agreement;

retained on behalf of and representing the co-accused

(c) that Dillon was induced by Mr. Brown to dismiss hils

Permudan lawyer Miss Simmons.
evidence on this point: Mr.

I'e certainly knew of Miss Simmons defending Pillon at
preliminary enquiry and “associated himself” with her

nreliminary. Yet at the trial she disappears, and is

(This involves acceopting

Brown is curiously silent

(b) that Mr. Brown was already

Williams;
1
Dillon's

on it. i
the

at the

replacad

by a new junior, Mr. Mello); (d) that Mr. Brown repre#ented

himself to Dillon as a Queen's Counsel, a matter whicﬁ would

zffect both Dillon's confidence in him, and also the #ize of

be
the fee he would/expected to pay; (e) that Dillon had

independent advice as to the wisdom of having one 1aw¥er to :

}no

renresent both himself and his co-accused; (f) that D%llon had

no independent advice as to the size of the fee being

}demanded;

(z) that not even Mr. Mello was present when the agree¢ment was

nade,

The trial judge found (h) that the relationship between

Dillon and Mr, Brown, client and attorney, was a fiduciary one,

and that because of that a presumption of undue influ

ENCe arose,

and that in consequence there was a duty resting on M
to justify the agreement and to rebut that presumptio
Downer, J. observed that lir. Francis, represent
complained that the defence had not raised the issue
influence” in the pleadings, but he accepted the defe
submission that it would arise once you had a case of

sueing a client for his fees in these circumstances.

r. Brown
n.

ing Mr. Brown%
of "undue [

nce

an attorney
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The learned judge seems to have formed the view
law that once there is a fiduciary relationshipn, givin
tc a presumption of undue influence, which is not rebu
the necessary result must be that the agreement is to
unconscionable and is void, and unenforceable: nothing
recovered. Downer, J. therefore dismissed the claim an
aside the contract and ordered judgment to be entered
first and second defendants, with costs to be taxed or

We have no note of the argument as it was presené
but in support of his findings .and conclusion on this

of the case the learned trial judge relied on Allcard

on the

% rise
fted, then
Le deemed
can be

d set

%or the
agreed.
ed below,
aspect

v, Skinner

(1887) 36 Ch, D. 145 and Wright v. Carter (19€3) 1 Ch.

former dealt with gifts made by the entrant into a rel

order who took vows of poverty and obedience and ceded

27. The
igious

her

property to the order and attempted to recover such of it as was

still extant when she left the order some years later

At issue

was the revocation of the gifts still remaining in the hands of

the order. The second case dealt with an application

to revoke

a trust set up by a donor who settled all his property in trust

for his two children and his solicitor (to whom he owed fees

for a considerable time and to a considerable amount).

Both

|
cases contain dicta of great importance and value on this branch

of the law, but neither was particularly apt to this %ituation.

They dealt with the revocation of gifts, conveyances or trusts,

rather than the problem of unconscionable bargains, where the

recipient or person attempting to enforce the bargain

has in

fact given some consideration, and what is being suggbsted is

that the return which was promised to him is grossly dispro-

nortionate to the consideration furnished, and intervention is

sought on equitable principles.

0ddly enough no mention is made of the Legal Priofession Act

and it appears not to have been brought to the attention of the

learned judge.

|90
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A further point that was never canvassed below was the
capacity in which Mr. Brown anpeared for Dillon in the Suprene
Court of Bermuda: had he been admitted to »ractice there? If
so on what basis? Was that basis the fact that he was a
barrister-at-law of the English Bar? or was it on the basis
that he was an attorney-at-law practising in Jamaica under the
Legal Profession Act of this country? On what basis |and by what
rules do members of the legal profession practice in Bermuda?

Is it the traditional English or common law system of solicitor
and barrister? Or is it some other e.g. a fused profession
such as we now have in Jamaica; or a variant such as jexists in
New Zealand where the legal practioner may be a soligitor or
barrister or practice as both?

On appeal the respondents sought to canvass this issue by
a respondent's notice to that effect, given out of time, (in

fact on the opening day of the appeal). The Court refused

leave to raise this point at this stage, and it is discussed

further on in this judgment. It was one that dependéd on
evidence, or might have been met by evidence, and th# Court was

not in a position to determine what was the legal po%ition in

#ermuda in this resncct, |
The original grounds of appeal were abandoned in favour of

two supplementary grounds of anpeal which read as fo%lovs:
(1) The judgment subsumed an erroneous pro-

position in law, that is, that in th
fiduciary relationship between an attorney
and client in a matter of his remuneration,
there is a presumption of undue 1intluence
and that independent legal advice wa
necessary as tc¢ the remuneration a client
must pay. The learned trial judge mistook
the rule relating to transactions outside
remuneration by applying such a rule to
retainers (be they by deed, or oral or
written).

|

(Z) The judgment was against the weight of the
evidence, Particularly, as (a) it waE never
disputed that the written retainer was
signed by the first respondent and (p) the

1 |
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"appellant actually rendered his lesa

services and paid expenses incidental

to such services out of his own pocke

The argument put forward by Mr. Macaulay for th
appellant in effect was that the basis on which the t
onerated, or that the princinles of law that he purpo

apnly, that is the presumption of undue influence ari

the relationship of attorney and client applied only

1

e plaintiff/

rial judge
rted to
sing from

to trans-

actions outside of the contract of employment, that i

to cases of gifts to and sales to or by attorneys by

clients. Another way of putting the argument was to say that

the principle only applied where the relationship of

and to

s to say

attorney

and client already exfsted, and not to its incention.

suggested that if independent advice as to fees and ¢
were required before an attorney could be engaged, logically r
this might lead to there having to be a second opini#n to advise
whether the first opinion as to the fairness and rea%onableness

of the original agreement was reasonable and fair, and so forth

ad infinitum., It was submitted that as a matter of 1

could be no pnresumption of undue influence with regar

entering into a contract of employment of an attorney

It was

onditions

aw there

d to the

by a ¢lient.

It was submitted that there were no cases in which tﬂe presumptioﬂ

of undue influence had ever been applied to the origﬂnal employ-

ment of an attorney. i

It was submitted that the trial judge appeared

been unduly influenced by the representation to the élient that

to have

Mr. Brown was a Queen's Counsel, and by considering ¢he size

¢f the fee being offered to a mere junior counsel.

| |
Finally it was submitted by Mr. Macaulay that the only law |

anplicable to the situation was tc be found in Secti#n 21 (1) of

the Legal Profession Act, and that this authorized tﬁe Court to 1
1

reduce the amount of the fees payable - this was the|

that the Court could take, - and that it could take it only if th¢

Only step
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acreement appeared to the Ccurt tc be unfair and unrea%onable.
In short it had no nower to set the agreement completeiy aside
as had been done here. In support of these provositions [
particularly those relating to undue influence arisingiout of
the relationship between attorneys and clients he refe@red to

the following cases: Demerara Bauxite Co. Ltd. v. Fubbhrd (1923)

A.C. 673 (P.C.). This case dealt with the purchase ofjland by

a solicitor from a client, where the client had no ind@pendent :
advice, and where the solicitor failed to reveal to tMe client
all the information in his possession. Fe bought thesland for
$5,500.00 and resold it shortly after for $11,200.00.  The
nrinciple on which the case was decided is set out in ‘'the Privy |
Council judgment delivered by Lord Parmoor at pages 681-682, ‘
Without repeating the passage it is sufficient to saysthat it

dealt with a solicitor-client relationship already established,

and the duty lying on the solicitor to show that the #ransaction
was a fair one and that the solicitor had made full disclosure

to the client.

McMaster v. Byrne (1952) 1 A1l E.R. 1362 (P.C.)}was

another case of a solicitor buying shares from his client and
failing to disclose to him information in his possession which
made the shares far more valuable. In this case the solicitor

bought the client's shares for $30,000.00 and resold ihem for

$127,000.00. In both this case and that of Demerara Bauxite Co. |

referred to above, the relationship of solicitor and client which

|
|

had existed had come to an end, and what was at issue was
wnether the presumption of undue influence and the duty normally
owed by a solicitor to his client when conducting a business f

transaction between them still continued to apply. Both cases

deal with the continuation of the fiduciary duty andjnot the

time at which it begins. j ;
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Wright v, Carter (1903j 1 Ch, 27 (Already referred to as
having been relied on by the trial judee) was a case in which
the principle was applied to gifts bestoﬁed by a client by a
voluntary settlement made in favour of the solicitor and the
client's two children. In this case the relationship of client
and solicitor had already been established when the gift was

made,

Alcard v. Skinner (1887) 36 Ch. D, 145 (also already

mentioned as having been relied upon by the trial judge) was
a case of gifts to a religious order made by an entrant into
the order at a time when the undue influence of the 6fder had
been established, when the giftsvwere made.

Mr. Fairclough on behalf of Dillon appeared to base his

argument on the analysis contained in Cheshire and Fifoot on

Contract, 10th Edition (1981) pages 274 et seq. He argued that
in this case there was a fiduciary relationship, the presump-
tion of undue influence arose and had not been rebutted.
Alternatively there was sufficient evidence to £ind that undue
Lnfluence had in fact been exercised. In support of:his

argument he cited Mearns v. Knapp (1889) 37 W.R. 585: this was

a case in which the plaintiff, a gentleman's valet, instructed
the defendant, a solicitor, to act for him in the propnsed
nurchase of a tea and coffee business, (apparently a café) for
the sum of /500. The sale eventually fell through. In its
closing stages the solicitor when asked for his bill asked for
forty guineas to settle his fees to date, and in lieu of an
itemized bill prepared a memorandum which was signed by both
the solicitor and the client and which "agreed” the cost at f4Z.
The plaintiff went to hew solicitors and presently brought
action to set aside the agreement regarding fees as unfair,

and claiming that it was signed by the client through ignorance

and pressure. (The solicitor had moneys in hand for the client).



~
A

' ¢

-21-

Kekewich, J. found for the plaintiff (the client) and set
aside the agreement, but, be it observed, left it open to
the solicitor to submit a detailed Bill in respect of his
costs. He did so on the basis that the agreement appeared 1
prima facie to be unfair and unreasonable. On this finding
the solicitor agreed to‘accept the scale fee, based on the
value of the premises proposed to be bought, which yielded a ?
fee of #7.10. (30s per f100). At that date, under the

Solicitor's remuneration Act 1881, S. 8, an agreement as to i

costs couldbe entered into, but to be enforceable had to be
fair and reasonable. The English Legislation on thé subject is
discussed below. The moral to be drawn from the case is that
the setting aside of an agreement as to costs made ﬁetween a
solicitor and client does not necessarily result in the former
7etting nothing at all for his work and labour, whi¢h was the
result Downer, J. reached in the instant case. To énticipate,
the correct attitude or approach to this problem appears in a
sentence taken from the judgment of Wilberforce, J. in

Blectrical Trades Union v. Tarlo (1964) Ch. 720 at 734:

", ... The court has inherent jurisdiction
to secure that the solicitor, as an officer
of the court, is remunerated properly, and
no more, for work he does as solicitor.”

This also seems to be the principle on which Section 21 (1)
of the Legal Profession Act is based. As to this Mr. Fairclough;
nointed out that on the judge's findings, when Mr. Brown went
to Bermuda for the 24th April, 1978 trial, no agreement
retaining him or fixing his costs had yet been made: he was
then representing the co-accused Williams. Items such as his
transportation and hotel bills etcetera were items which
presumably Williams was already contributing to. These were

factors to be taken into consideration when discussing whether

the agreement appeared to be fair and reasonable. So also was
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the representation that he was a Queen's Counsel. It appeared
from Dillon's evidence in cross-examination that he had agreed
a charge of Bérmuda $6,000.00 with Miss Simmons to conduct
the defence at the trial, and Mr. Fairclough argued that
Mr. Brown's entitlement based on these considerations should
not exceed J$4,000.00. |

In reply, Mr. Macaulay pointed out that the judge had not
found that there was in fact undue influence: he had instead
based his judgment on a presumption of undue influence which
he said arose from the nature of the relationship. Where the
relétionship did not create any presumption of undue influence
(and he submitted that there was none as regards employing an
attorney for the first time) undue influence must in fact be
proved. The defendant Dillon Was9 he suggested, a dealer or
traveller dealing in ganja, and to such a person he argued that
the fee of U.S5.$20,000.00 was quite reasonable. The suggestion
of J$4,000.00 would be gross underpayment, seeing that he had
apparently paid J§20,000 to cover the costs of the extradition
proceedings: (Dillon said that that figure renresented fees
for three lawyers).

We have reviewed so far the pleadings, the evidence, the
judgment, and the arguments presented to us on appeal. The

central problem in this case is what control, ‘if any, do the

Courts in Jamaica have over ‘the fees demanded or agreed 'to be

paid to attorneys at the private bar by their own clients?

The words '"their own clients' are used to distinguish the
nresent question from a differént but associated question, i.e.
what fees may be recovered from the other side by the
successful party in litigation. Those fees have always been

subject to taxation of costs: what is recoverable is not

necessarily the fee that the victorious party has paid or agreed

to pay to his barrister or solicitor, but the fee that the
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taxing master or Registrar will allow as reasonable on taxing
the costs. What we are concerned with is the question of the
extent to which the barrister, solicitor, or attorney can
recover from his own client recompense for work done on his
behalf, and more particularly when the fee has been agreed
between them before, during or after thelitigation in question.
There is some common ground in that the costs that the successful
party may recover from the other side is by way of indemnity only}
A preliminary observation may be made: an agreement between ;
an attorney and his client, if one is made expressly,iis like
any other agreement in that it is subject to all theirules
affecting a normal contract, and is for example liable to be
set aside on the ground of undue influence, or that it is
unconscionable, or that it is affected by fraud, misrépresentation%
and theelike. But it has additional features not present in
ordinary cohtracts. The attorney apart from the duty he owes to
his client owes a duty to the Court, and this duty may on occasioh
override the duty owed to the client. Further, the attorney
and his conduct of cases before the Courts play a vital part in
the whole administration of justice. As Lord Warrington of
Clyffe said in delivering the Privy Council decision in Macauley

v. Sierra Leone Supreme Court Judges (1928) A.C. 344 at 350,

where one wishes to induce people to resort to the Courts for
the settlement of their disputes rather than to personal

violence

“, ,,. it is essential that the people should be
brought to feel the greatest respect not only
for the impartiality and independence of the
tribunal, but for the honesty and fairness of
those who practice before them."

(Emphasis supplied)
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Jamaica, is, like several other countries, an inheritor
of the common law system. The aim of that system was to
produce not only impartial and independent tribunals or
Courts, but to produce an independent and fearless advocate,
honest in his practice before the Court, and reasonable in
the charges that he made (if any) for taking up the cause of
his client.

The method traditionally adopted by the common law was to
have a two tier system of legal representation: a solicitor or
attorney who saw the client and dealt directly with him, and
a barrister or advocate who dealt not with the client, but the
solicitor, and who screened from personal contact with the
client, could objectively argue such law as arose to be dealt
with, and present the facts with the minimum of personal
emotional involvement. A central feature of this system was
that the barrister had the exclusive right of audience before
all the higher Courts civil or criminal of the land.

AS TO BARRISTERS:

The problem of controlling the size of the fees charged,
agreed or accepted for advocacy in the higher Courts has always
been seen as a problem that could affect not only the advocate
client relationship, but the functioning of the Courts themselves.

In Roman Law for example, there was a period in which the
advocate was forbidden to accept any fees at all for the work
that he did, so as to better secure a disintcrested and objective
presentation of the case.

There was another factor at work in the common law system.
If it is desired to have a fearless and independent advocate
it is necessary to protect him in his work, to grant him
immunity on the one hand from attack by the persons against
whom he is appearing, and on the other hand to protect him from

attack by those for whom he appears and who may blame him for

3
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"not to be left to the chance whether they
shall ultimately get their fees or not:; and

it is for the purpose of promoting the honour
and integrity of the bar, that it is expected
all their fees should be vaid at the time when
their briefs are delivered. It is their duty
to take care, if they have fees, that they have
them beforehand, and therefore the law will not
allow them any remedy, if they disregard their
duty in that respect.”

Folroyd and Best, JJ. made observations to like effect.
Perhaps the case that best illustrates the common law view

is that of the trilogy in Kennedy v. Broun:

The story begins with the case of Swinfen v. Lord Chelmsford

(1860) 5 F & N 890. In that case Miss Swinfen, claimant

under the will of her father as against the heir who had
attacked the will, sued her previous barrister for having
compromised her case against the heir by accepting a settlement
against her express instructions. Fe had honestly thought

this was in her best interest. Mr. Kennedy, a barrister in
practice in the midlands, left his country practice and devoted
some two or more years to the prosecution of Miss Swinfen's
claims. In this particular case he appeared against his ore-
decessor, who had since become Lord Chancellor! They lost,

and the casec established the immunity of the barrister from
being sued by his client for his conduct of the case, even
where he had deliberately disobeyed his client's instructions!
Nevertheless the actual settlement was set aside, and Kennedy
went on to establish his client's claim to the€ estate. Fe had
collected little or no fees from his client for these pro-
digious efforts. She had from time to time promised that he
would be well looked after if they won, and having won she
promised to give him f20,000. Unfortunately for Kennedy,

Miss Swinfen married soon after her victory which had brought
in an estate worth some f60,000. Fer new husband did not share
her previously expressed desires as to what should be paid

Mr. Kennedy. Even though she had at Mr. Kennedy's suggestion

Z o
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given him a charge for that amount upon the estate that he had

recovered for her. In Kennedy v. Broun (1863) 13 C.B. NS 677

143 E.R. 268; Mr. Kennedy sued his client for these fees.

Fe 1lost. The FEeadnote records:

A promise made by a client to pay money to

a counsel for his advocacy, whether made

before or during or after the litigation, has
no binding effect. The relationship of counsel
and client renders the parties mutually
incapable of making any contract of hiring and
service concerning advocacy in litigation.”

(By an odd quirk of history, it is of intetest to note that

it was a Mr. Macaulay, O0.C. who appeared for the client and

2stablished the inability of the barrister to sue for his fees!).

The case occupies some sixty-seven pages in the law
reports; Mr. Kennedy appeared for himself and many will be
interested in the arguments put up by both sides as to whether
or not a barrister should be allowed to sue for his fees.

Erle, C.J. delivered judgment to the effect set out in the
Feadnote at pase 727 (E.R. 287). Fe observed at page 737
(E.R. 291):
""The incapacity of the advocate in litigation
to make a contract of hiring affects the
integrity and dignity of advocates, and so is
in close relation with the highest of human
interests, viz., the administration of justice.
But, if the law allowed the advocate tomake
a contract of hiring and service, it may be that
his mind would be lowered, and that his per-
formance would be guided by the words of his
contract rather than by principles of duty...”
The Court in that case consisted of Erle, C.J., Williams, Byles
and Keating, JJ.
For those interested there was a further sequel. In Broun

v. Kennedy (1863) 33 Beav., 133; 55 E.R. 317 and on appeal

Broun v. Kennedy (1864) 4 De G J § Sm 217; 46 E.R. 901,

Miss Swinfen, now Mrs. Broun, successfully sued to have set

aside the charge upon the estate that she had given to
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Mr. Kennedy to secure his fees. The charce was set aside on
the ground of undue influence, and lr. Kennedy condemned to
pay the costs of these actions!
Incidentally the Court expnressed some shock at the size
(:> of the promised fee of £20,000.00, though this formed no part
of its ratio.

In the case of In re LeBrasseur and Oakley (1896) 2 Ch.

487 (C.A.) nearly eighty years after the views expressed by

Bayley. J. in Morris v. Funt (ante) Lindley, L.J. said very much

the same thing, at paces 493 to 494, but he went further in
that he tied the barrister's inability to sue his client for
his fees with his immunity from suit by his client for

(:J negligence. Fe said:

"But I think it is of the utmost
importance that the Court should not
assist barristers to recover their fees.
If they do so, the whole relation between

a barrister and his professional client
will be altered, and a door will be opened
which will lead to very important con-
sequences as recards counsel, The ipevitable
result will be to do away with that which
is the great protection of counsel against
an action for negligence by his client.”

(:\ Lopes, L.J. supported those views, and at pare 496 observed:

"The decision of the Court of Common Pleas
in Xennedy v Broun (ante) has always been
acted upon, and it establishes the
unqualified doctrine that the relation of
counsel and solicitor renders the parties
mutually incapable of making any legal
contract of hiring and service in regard
to litivation, That rule has existed for
a long time, and speaking for myself, I
should be very sorry to see it in any way
impugned.”

The barrister's inability to sue for his fees has continued
k»/' to be a part of the structure of the legal profession in

Encland, see for example Wells v. Wells (1914) P. 157; In re

Sandiford (No. 2) Italo-Canadian Corporation Ltd. v. Sandiford

(1935) Ch. 681; (1935) All E. R. 364.

zo
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The barrister's immunity from suit for neelicence by his
client was recently reviewed and reaffirmed by all levels of

the judicial hierarchy in England in Rondel v. Worsley (1966)

1 A1l E.R. 467, Lawton, J; (1966) 3 All E.R. 657 (C.A.:
Lord Denning, M.R., Danckwerts and Salmon, L.JJ.) (1967) 3 All
E.R. 993; (1969) A.C. 191 - (F.L.: Lord Reid, Lord Morris,
Lord Pearce; Lord Upjohn and Lord Pearson). |

In their Lordship's speeches in the House of Lords the

dictum of Lindley, L.J. In re LeBrasseur and Oakley (ante)

was considered, and their Lordships made it clear that the
immunity from suit did not flow from the inability to sue for
fees: both were separate and distinct rules, but both derived
from considerations of public policy laid down in the common
law relating to the structure of the legal profession and more
narticularly the role of the barrister or advocate therein.

It misht perhaps be noted that though the barrister could
not sue for fees, he was not without all remedy. Primarily
he should collect them in advance when the brief was delivered.
Secondarily, he looked to the instructing solicitor to pay
them, and if this was done, the solicitor himself could recover

them from the client: (see for example Medlicott v, Emery (1933)

All E. R. 655; 149 L.T. 303). Thirdly he might complain to the

Law Society, which exercised disciplinary powers over solicitors.

To summarize: the problem of the size of the fee paid to
the barrister was minimizéd under the common law: he could not
sue either the client or the instructing solicitor for it.

If he sot it, he kept it. If he did not, nothing was heard

further of the matter. There were indirect controls in that
so far as civil litiesation was concerned, in taxing the costs
to be paid by the loser in the action, the taxing master had

a control and discretion as to the number of counsel to. be



~30-

a2llowed and as tc the size of their fees that the loser would
nave to pay. The fee that had actually been charged by counsel
to the winner would not necessarily be recovered in toto from
the side condemned in costs. This would no doubt play its

nart when the solicitor instructing counsel was diséussing the
fee to be charged in the first place.

There were two other controls that should be mentioned in
connection with the barrister: the power of the Courts to
control oroceedings before the Court, i.e. the power to punish
for contempt of Court, (too larse 2 topic to be dealt with here),:
and the Courts inherent control over those who appear before

them.. The barrister was not an officer of the Court, but the

Court possessed at common law a control over those whom they
permitted to appear before them. The judges of the Figh Court
cxercis¢éd this jurisdiction which was a jurisdiction to grant or
deny audience to persons appearing for litigants before therm

and the right to give licences to practice in the Courts. This
necessarily invelved as incidental thereto the richt to deny
audience and to recall such licences. In the case of Attorney

Ceneral of the Cambia v. N'jie (1961) A.C. 617; (1961) 2 All E.R.

504; a Privy Council case which dealt with the right of the
Supreme Court of The Gambia to discipline legal practitioners
(in that case a fused profession of barrister-solicitor) by
striking them off the roll of those entitled to practice before
them, Lord Denning, giving the judgment of the Privy Council
said, at page €30 et seq:

"By the common law of England the judges
have the right to determine who shall

be admitted to practice as barristers

and solicitors: and, as incidental

thereto, the judges have the right to
suspend or prohibit from practice. In
England this power has for a very long

time been delegated, so far as barristers
are concerned, to the Inns of Court: and,
for a much shorter time, so far as sclicitors
are concerned, tc the Law Society. In the
colonies the judses have retained the power
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in their own hands, at any rate in those
colonies where the profession is fused.™

Lord Dennine then referred to In re The Justices of the

Court of Common Pleas at Anticua (1830) 1 Knapp 267; 12 E.R. 321.

In that case the advocates at Antigua practised both as
Barristers and Attornies, and were admitted to practise in
both characters by the Court of Common Pleas there, and after-
wards practised in all the other Courts in the island. The
petitioner (to the Privy Council) had been disbarred by the
justices of the Court of Common Pleas for various acts of

professional and general misconduct. Lord Wynford delivering

the Privy Council judgment, observed:

"In England the Courts of Justice are relieved

from the unpleasant duty of dis-barring advocates

in consequence of the power of calling to the Bar

and dis-barring having been in very remote times
delesated to the Inns of Court. In the colonies
there are no Inns of Court, but it is essential

for the due administration of justice that some
persons should have authority to determine who

are fit persons to practice as advocates and
attornies there. Now advocates and attornies have
always been admitted in the Colonial Courts by

the Judges, and the Judees only. The power of
suspending from practice must, we think, be
incidental tc that of admitting to practice, as

is the case in England with regard to attornies.

In Antipgua the characters of advocates and

attornies are given to one person; the Court
therefore that confers both characters may for just
cause take both away. Although indeed our gwn

Courts do not dis-bar for the reason I have mentioned,
I have no doubt they micht prevent a barrister who
had acted dishonestly from practising before them..,."
e then added: "'whilst advocates in the colonies have
an appeal to His Majesty the power to remove them
from practice can never be abused."

In the case from the CGambia Lord Denning went on to observe
that the powers of the judges had been embodied in the Rules of
the Supreme Court there, "But it seems to their Lordships that
it is simply a restatement of the inherent power of the Judges
at common law and is intra vires,” (i.e. intra vires the powers
of those who made the Supreme Court Rules). The judgment then
observing the right of appeal to the Privy Council went on to

deal with a number of other points.
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The common law position was again explored recently in

England in the case of In re S (a barrister) (1969) 2 W.L.R.

708, where a panel of five Figh Court Judges heard an appeal by
a barrister against being struck off by the Senate of the four
Inns of Court, to whom the Inns of Court, with the consent of
the judges, had assigned their individual disciplinary powers,
though they reserved the right to give effect to such findings
and Cray’s Inn had done so, The appellant challenged this
delegation by his Inn. The new arrangement was upheld, but what;
is of interest is that the judges re-asserted their overriding
supervisory jurisdiction, exercised by them as "visitors’ to
the Inns of Court. In the result the judges reviewed the
charges, allowed the barrister's appeal against one,and as to
the sentence of disbarment substituted a suspension of one year.
The Courts of various jurisdictions in the commonwealth
have adopted these common law powers: see for example Macauley

v. Sierra Leone Supreme Court Judges (1928) A.C. 344 (P.C.)

(striking off of a solicitor-barrister - (fused profession) -
for obtaining from an unsophisticated local chief a fee out of
all proportion to the importance of the case and the work done

by him); Re Sinanan, ex parte the Attorney General (1964) 7

W.I.R. 93 (Trinidad C.A.) (barrister struck off after conviction
for fraudulent conversion).

Finally as to barristers, though the opportunities of direct
contact with the client are obviously less, they are as
subject to attack on the score of undue influence in respect of
barrister/client transactions as are solicitors (see for

example Thornhill v Evans (1742) 9 Mod 331; 88 E.R. 487; 3 Atk.

330 (mortgage from client to barrister set aside for undue
influence and relief given against unconscionable interest thoush

this was said to be by way of fees due).

s
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Carter v. Palmer (1841) 8 Cl & Fin 657; 8 E.R. 256 (E.L.)

Barrister employed for some years in negotiating client's
financial problem, after his retainer ceased, went and bought
from client’s creditors charges on client's estate at a
discount: held unable to collect their face value, but only re-
imbursement of what he had actually spent. See also Broun v.
Kennedy (1863) 33 Beav 133 55 E.R. 317; and (1864) 4 De G.J. &
Smith 217; 46 E.R. 901, already mentioned.

AS TO SOLICITORS:

If under the common law the barristers in England had a
loose rein, (and there are practically no English statutes
dealing with them), by contrast the solicitors were always
subject to the closest control both by the Courts and by statute -
as to the fees they charged and the agreements they made with
their clients. Statutes controlling their admission and
regulating their business go back at least to 15 Edward II. C1,
and from time to time, apart from the control exercised over
them by the Courts (the inherent jurisdiction) there are a long
series of Acts affecting them in one way or the other. From
time to time there have been a series of consolidating Acts
which took in past legislation and re-enacted it into comprehen-

sive codes. See for example the U.X. 1843 Solicitors Act, 6 & 7

Vict. C. 73, and the schedules thereto. That Act forms a
convenient starting place: it provided for the admission of
solicitors and attorneys, their qualifications and service under
articles, their examination, admission and enrolment. It
provided against unqualified persons taking out legal process,
and from Section 37 on provided in detail controls over the

fees that they could charge and how they might be taxed and
recovered. It is enough to notice that they could not commence
or maintain any action or suit for the recovery of any fees,
charges or disbursements for any business done until the expira-

tion of one month after they had sent in a detailed bill of their



O

-34-

charges. Within that month the client could refer the bill
to be taxed and settled by the proper officer of the Court.
While this process was going on no action could be brought
on the bill., It was also possible for the solicitor to refer
the bill for taxation himself., The costs of taxation were
provided for: if one sixth or more were deducted on taxation,
the solicitor bore the costs of the taxation, if however the
bill was not reduced by one sixth, then the client bore the
cost of taxation. Provision was made for the taxing master or = -
officer to refer any special problem to the judge for ruling,
or directions. After taxation judgment could be entered for
the amount so ascertained. There were many other provisions
contained in the Act: bills could be taxed on the application
of third parties, theycould be re-opened and taxed even if they
had been paid, if the application was made to the Court within
twelve months of payment, and there were shown to be special
circumstances warranting such taxation.

Apart from these statufory provisions the Courts exercised

over solicitors and attorneys an inherent jurisdiction as they

were officers of the Court, and as such bound to do what was

considered right and just, regardless of whether or not they
were liable in Law. For example undertakings given by them in
their capacity as solicitors were enforceable by the Courts

whether they created a legal obligation or not: Re a Solicitor,

ex parte Fayles (1907) 2 K.B. 539 (1904-7) All E.R. 1050

United Mining and Finance Cormn. v. Beecher (1910) 2 X.B. 296.

Further they might be held liable to pay costs incurred by the
other side due to their default in the conduct of the litigation:

iyers v, Elman (1940) A.C. 282,

Further, because of their direct contact with their clients,
solicitors as a group were often placed in situations where
their influence over their'clients_was brought into question,

and dispositions made by the client were set aside as having been
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procured through undue influence on the part of the solicitor

or attorney, particularly in cases in which they benefitted

from the disposition: see for example Liles v. Terry (1895) 2

Q.B. 679 and Wright v. Carter (1903) 1 Ch. 27 and sec also

Nocton v. Lord Ashburton (1914) A.C. 942 (solicitor's special duty

to a client with whom he had embarked on a joint enterprise).

Turning however to the special case here of agreements
between client and solicitor as to fees:

First as to agreements between client and solicitor or
attorney as to fees, attorneys were expected to charge no more
than scale fees or fees allowable on taxation by the taxing
master, and clients were allowed to recopen and challenge their
bills and submit them to taxation even after they had been paid
or security given, and a considerable time had elapsed. See

for example Walmesley v. Boothe (1741) 2 Atk. 25; 26 E.R. 412

{a case discussed at some length later); Saunderson v. (lass

(1742) 2 Atk. 298; 26 E.R. 581; Drawers' Coy v. Davis (1742)

2 Atk. 295 (taxation ordered of a bill sent in seventeen years

earlier); Edwards v. Meyrick (1842) 2 Hare 60; 67 E.R. 25 is

perhaps worth a closer look, as it neatly straddles both a client's
agreement as to fees and a client-solicitor transaction. Fere
the solicitor had discovered the client's entitlement to certain
property and for a considerable period nrosecuted the client’'s
claims; until - not being paid - he desisted. To cover the
costs then due the client mortgaged some land to the solicitor,
and later, having tried to sell it unsuccessfully, he sold it
te the solicitor, the consideration being that the fees due
should be set off, leaving a small balance owing by the
solicitor to the client.

The client eventually succeeded in establishing his claim,

and gained a substantial settlement. Fe showed his gratitude
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Downer, J. made no findings as to which version he accepted
as to the date and circumstances in which Exhibit 1, the document
of the 24th April, 1978 was signed. Put it is implied at least
in his judgment that he regarded it as having been sicned on the
24th April. If sco it would be a written agreement retaining
Mr, Brown for the conduct of the defence at the trial.

On this first issue then, we must proceed on the basis
that »r. Brown was engaged to represent Dillon at the trial
which commenced on the 24th April, 1978. The learned judge did
not accent Mr. Brown's evidence that he was orally engaged by
Cheba Vassell in Jamaica to represent Dillon at the preliminary
enquiry and if necessary at the subsequent trial. Fe must
however have found that Mr. Brown wasvengagedy whether orally
on the 6th March after the preliminary enquiry, or orally or by
the document dated the 24th April, 1978, to represent Dillon at
the trial.

The second noint that would arise is on what terms was
ir. Brown so engaged. Mr. Brown is not entirely consistent on
this point, save for one allegation: that is that whatcver he
was engaged to do his fee was U.S. $20,000.00 or J. $40,000.00,
whether the work was for the preliminary enqguiry and the actual
trial, or only the latter. Faving regard to the fact that the
trial judge rejected Mr. Brown's evidence as to his agreement
with Sheba Vassell in Jamaica, this leaves Mr. Brown only with
the evidence of the written document dated the 24th April; 1578,
and the evidence he gave as to discussions with Dillon on the
6th March, 1972, when he met him for the first time, and again
those of the 24th April, 1978, just before the trial commenced.
Dillon seems clearly to have admitted that Mr. Brown was engaged

when he terminated Miss Simmons® retainer.
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having lost their case. Consequently the common law attached
privilege for what may be said by the advocate in Court, in
the same way that it protected the witness, the party, and the

judge, (See Munster v. Lamb [1883] 11 0.B.D. 588). The

common law also attached privilege or immunity to the advocate,
the barrister, in his conduct of the case,zggainst the client
who may have lost and wished to sue him in negligence or for
breach of his duty to the client, complaining that this
witness should have been called, or that this question should
have been asked or not asked ctcetera. The barrister’s immunity
and privileges were subject to the inherent powers of the Court
to curb abuses by use of the power to nunish for contempt of
Court.

Under the traditional common law system the barrister was
unable to sue for his fees. Such fees were debts of honour
only. So as to be able to present his case ""disinterestedly”

the barrister ought to be naid in advance: he should collect

his fee before going to Court. Fe was not allowed to sue for
it after.

In Morris v. Funt (1819) 1 Chit 544, a case in which

Bayley, J. was hearing an appeal from the losing party as to
what the master had done in taxing the costs he was required
to pay to the other side, that learned judge not only upheld
the discretion exercised by the taxing master as to the number
of counsel for which the loser should be charged with, but the
quantum of their fees, and as to the fees he made some obser-
vations at pages 550-551 that reflect the views of the common
law Courts on that topic. Fe said:

"But it is said that counsel can waintain no

action for their fees: why? because it is

understood that their emoluments are not to

depend upon the event of the cause, but that

their compensation is to be equally the same

whether the event be successful or unsuccessful.
They are to be paid beforehand, because they are




—

1
~
1

At this stace a no-case submission seems to havs been
made on behalf of Sheba Vassell. The judge's notes do not
record any ruling as having then been made.,

Both defendants cave evidence.

Nillon gave evidence to the effect that he had been
arrested and extradited from Jamaica to Bermuda to face charges
for certain drug offences. There was a preliminary enquiry at
which he was represented by 'iiss ‘hirley Simmons. Mr. Rrown
was to represent the co-accused EBrrol Williams he can't
remember if lr. Brown was present at the enquiry. On the
morning of the actual trial he was approached by lMr. Brown in
the cells. UIr., Brown suggested that it would be botter if one
attorney represented both accused, and pointed out he was
appearing for Williams. te suggested that he should dismiss
iiss Simmons from the case, and engage Mr. Brown. The quantum
of fees was not discussed. Miss Simmons was announced as coming
in tc see him. Mr. Brown departed saying ‘'remember what I
just told you”. Fe then dispensed with the services of
I’iss Simmons. No figure for fees had been discussed with
i‘r. Brown nor any mention made of an instructing attcrney.

At this stage then, Dillon appears to be saying that he
was nersuaded to and did engage Ir. Brown to represent him at
the trial, and had dispensed with the services of Miss Simmons.
This contradicts the defence filed on his behalf which had
stated that lfr. Brown never at any time represented him at the
trial.

According to Dillon this nebulous state of affairs
continued for some days of trial, which he says lasted for two
weeks (not three). Dillon says that a stapge was reached when
the trial adjourned over a week-end, and it was expected that
the jury would come in with their verdict soon after it resumed

in the next week. At this stage says Dillon, Mr. 2Brown came to
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to his former solicitor by bringing a Rill in Equity to set
aside the sale of the other land to him: by this time a rail-
way line had been run into the district and mining of the coal
known to be under that land had now become commercially
feasible. In point of fact and law, the sale transaction was
upheld. The solicitor was able tc show conclusively that the
price paid by him for the land was substantially better than
any other offer obtainable at that time. Nevertheless the bill
of costs was referred for taxation some errors in ithaving been
nointed cut. The Bill had been presented some thirteen years

before! Civing judement, Sir James Wigram said - (at p. 29 E.P.}:

“"The rule of ecuity which subjects transactions
between solicitor and client to other and
stricter tests than those which appnly to
ordinary business transactions is not an
isolated rule, but is a branch of a rule
applicable to all transactions between man

and man, in which the relation between the
contracting parties is such as to destroy the
equal footing on which such narties should stand.
In some cases, as between trustee and cestul qué
trust, the rule goes to the extent of creating

a positive incapacity: the duties of the office
of trustee reguiring on general principles

that that particular case should be so guarded.

The case of solicitor and client is, however
different ..... (The Vice Chancellor went on

to say that each case had to be considered on

its merits, and that dependent on the circum-
stances of the case various duties were required
of the solicitor ..... in general the solicitor
must be able to show either that the client had
inderendent advice, or that he had given to his
client all that reasonable advice against himself,
that it would have been his duty to give if a third
person had been involved with the client).

Two years later, in Re Whitcombe (1844) 8 Beav. 140,

Tord Langdale, M.R. was to say of an agreement between client
and solicitor agreeing a lump sum for costs, instead of a detailed
bill: (at p. 144):

“I must remark on the pgreat danger which solicitors
incur when they enter into such arrangements with
their clients. An apreement like this between a
solicitor and client for taking a fixed sum in
satisfaction of all demands for costs 1s an agreement
which may be perfectly pood; but this Court, for
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"the protection of parties, looks at every
transaction of this kind with great suspicion.
The matter may turn out to be vnerfectly fair
and right; still it exposes the conduct of the
solicitor to suspicion, and naturally awakens
the vigilance and jealously of this Court,
seeing that one party has all the knowledge,
and the other is in ignorance."”

(Emphasis supplied).

Folman v. Loynes (1854) 4 De G. M § C 270 illustrates the

difficulty of the solicitor's position. Fere the solicitor

had been acting for a client in an attempt to sell the client's
property. It had been subdivided into some nine lots and
offered for sale at auction. Only one found a purchaser. Sone
two years later the solicitor bought four of the lots, for the
sum of 600, on the face of the conveyance, but in actual fact
for #260 and an annuity of #40 for the life of the vendor,

The remaining four lots were sold twe years after that to the
same solicitor in consideration of an annuity of £26. The vendor
died two years after the last sale, and his heir brought suit
to set aside the twe sales, on the grounds that they were made
between an attorney and client and that the attorney had not
duly protected the client in the transaction. The defence was
that the relationship had ceased teo exist at the time of the
sale, and that the sale was fair,

The Court had little difficulty in finding that though the
attorney-client felationship had ended in that at the time of
the two sales the attorney was no longer acting for the vendor,
nevertheless the influence continued. There was an omus on the
solicitor or attorney to prove that the terms on which he
bought were the best that could have been obtained from anyone
¢lse. It was shown that the vendor was in fact in bad health,
he was addicted to drinking, and a man of gluttonous propensities,
excessively indolent and took no proper exercise: consequently
the annuities provided -in respect of his life werc werth very

little. The sale was set aside, and Edwards v. Meyrick (ante)

distinguished.
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In the same year, in Stedman v. Collett (1854) 17 Beav.

508, a solicitor who had been actinz for a client who was

him
unable to pay/to continue, surrendered the papers he had
acquired in support of the client's claim, in consideration of

a promise in writing by the client to pay him 200 if the clain

should ultimately be established. This having occurred the
solicitor sued on the agreement. The Master of the Rolls

remarked, at page 614:

"Notwithstanding some difficulty that may
arise from the dicta in some of the cases
referred to on this subject, I am of opinion
that the settlement of a solicitor's bill by
the client for a fixed sum is valid, and will
not be disturbed by this Court, where it has
been entered into fairly and with vproper
knowledge on both sides:™ (citing In re
Whitcombe (ante).

At page 616 he added:

"But I see nothing in that case to countenance
the opinion, that provided the transaction be
open .and fair, a solicitoar and his client may
not agree that a2 fixed sum shall be paid to the
solicitor, in liguidation cf his bill of costs,
even thouzh that bill of cests has not been
delivered, and even though the object of the
arrangement is to enable the solicitor to
escape the trouble of making out his bill."”

On the facts of this case he held the agreement valid,
haVing negatived pressure and having found that though the
defendant had no professional assistance he was conversant with
legal matters and understood the agreement fully; and that
tae fixed sum was not so grossly disproportionate to what might
have been reasonably due. Ie observedkthatkthere‘had‘been a
considerable lapse of time since the agreemehtkwas nade, and
that because of the agreement the client had in fact succeeded

in his claim. (The lepse of time here was nine years).

In 1876 the U.K. Parliament passed the Attorneys' and

Solicitors' Act, 1870.  Part 1 .of the Act dealt with agreements

between attorneys and solicitors and their clients. Section 4

of the Act provided:

A

.
LA
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“An attorney or solicitor may make an agreement
in writing with bhis client respecting the amount
and manner of payment for the whole or any part
of any past or future services, fees, charges
or disbursements in resnect of business done or
to be done by such attorney or solicitor, whether
as an attorney or sclicitor or as an advocate or
conveyancer, either by a gross sum, or by
commission or per-ecentage, or by salary or other-
wise, and either at the same or at a greater or
at a less rate as or than the rate at which he
would otherwise be entitled to be remuncrated,
subject to the provisions and conditions in this
part of this act contalned: Provided always,
that when any such agreement shall be made in
respect of business done or to be done in any
action at law or suit in equity, the amount
payable under the agreement shall not be received
by the attorney or solicitor until the agreement
has been examined and allowed by a taxing officer
of a court having power to entorce the apgreenent;
and 1f 1t shall appear to such taxing officer that
the agreement is not fair and reasonable he may
require the opinion of a ccurt or judge to be taken
thereon by motion or petition, and such court or
judge shall have power either to reduce the amount
payable under the agreement or to order the agree-
. ment to be cancelled and the costs, fees, charges
and disbursements in respect of the business done
to be taxed in the same manner as if no such agree-
had been made."”

Section 8 provided that no suit should be brought on the
agreement, but that every question with respect to it may be
examined and dealf with on a motion or petition to the appropyiate
Court in which the business, or any part of it, was done.

Section 9 provided that on such a motion or petition if it
appeared that the agreement was. in all respects fair and
reasonable between the parties the same may be enforced by that
Court; if it did not the Court might order it to be cancelled
and direct fees and costs to be taxed in the ordinary manner.

Section 10 provided that even if paid, thé client might on
anplication made within twelve months after payment avply to
have it reopened if the Court found that spécialfcircumstances
of the case required it to be re-opened.

There were other provisions and conditions which it is not

necessary to look at here.
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By the Supreme Court of Judicature Act, 1873, Section 87,

solicitors, attcrneys and proctors were fused under the
generic name solicitors, and deemed to be Officers of the
Supreme Court, and the Court's inherent jurisdiction expressly

retained.

A further U.X. Act, The Solicitors Remuneration Act, 1881

(44 & 45 Vict. C. 44) introduced a distinction between
"uncontentious’ and 'contentious’ business; as to the former

it provided for the laying down of set scales of fees by General
Orders to be made by a committee presided over by the Lord

Chancellor. Section 8 dealt again with the possibility of

solicitors and client agreeing in writing as to the remuneration

to be paid for such work.

In Clare v. Joseph (1907) 2 K.B. 369 (C.A.). The Court

of Appeal reviewed -the position as it stood before the 1870 Act,

and considered the effect of the Acts.
Lord Alverstone, C.J. at page 372 et seq said:

"“We have had considerable ‘discussion in this

appeal as to the state of the law before 1870:

in my opinion it is correctly stated in Cordery

on Solicitors, 3rd Edn. at p. 261. Agreements

as to costs were often made before 1870, and,

upon the application of the client, they were not
infrequently held to be binding both on the -
solicitor and the client. The inquiry was always
‘directed to the question whether the agregment

was fair and reasonable, and an agreement by the
Solicitor to take 1ess than the usual remuneration
was not looked upon as unfair or unreasonable, but
was held binding upon him. We must remember that
that was the state of the law in 1870 when we are
called upon to construe the Act of that year, an
Act which was designed to nrovide fresh safeﬁuards
for the- protectlon of the client and to zive the
solicitor certain rights which he did not nreviously
nossess, provided thet he himself complied with the
reguirements of the Act. .... it (The Act)
provided that he might enter into an agreement in
writine as to his costs, and went on to enact that,
if he did so, there should be a further safeguard
for the nrotectlon of the client, who should be
entitled to have the agreement examlned by the
taxingz Master to see if it was fair and reasonable,
and if that officer was of opinion that it was not
fair and reasonable he could require the opinicn

of the Court or.a ;udoe upon the point. The
section is an empowering section, aﬂd in my opinion

r
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"a less rate that the ordinary rate, an
agreement between him and his client to that

effect must be in writing, if the solicitor
sets it up ....."

This case I think indicates very clearly the approach of
the common law to what one may call lump sunm agrecement as to

costs made between solicitor and client. They were viewed with

Se

o

suspicion as there was so great an opportunity for the exerci
of undue influence, and the solicitor wishing to enforce them had
to satisfy the Taxing Master and or the Court that they were

fair and reasonable.

Before the Act of 1870 the Courts were prepared to examine

such agreements to see whether they were fair and reasonable.
It is important to appreciate that even after the Act, and the
subsequent Acts, (they were consolidated in 1932, and again in

1957) the Courts have exercised an inherent jurisdiction over

solicitors and their charges, over and above any powérs given
to them by the statutes. That power rests on the concept that

solicitors or attorneys are officers of the Court: as we have

seen in looking at the position of the barrister, Courts have
an inherent jurisdiction over those who practice in their Courts,
and this is especially true of solicitors and attorneys, who
are (unlike the barrister) officers of the Court. The following
cases, illustrate the continued exercise of this inherent juris-

diction separate and apart from Statute:

In re Johnson and Weatherall (1888) 37 Ch. D. 433: (C.A.)

country solicitors wishéd to challenge parts of éeftain bills

that had been rendered to them by their town agents in respect

of certain clients. All the bills had been put into one bill,

and apparently it was not possible under The Solicitors Act of
1843 to tax part of a town ageht“s bill. A strong Court of
Appeal, consisting of Cotton, Lindley and Bowen, L.JJ. unanimously

held that under the Court's inherent jurisdiction, quite apart
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The case illustrates the High Court of Australia asserting

-0 -

“The superior Courts of law and equity possess
a jurisdiction to ascertain, by taxation,

moderation, or fixation, the costs, charsges

and disbursements claimed by an attorney or
solicitor from his client, and that jurisdiction
is derived from three sources and falls under
three corresponding heads,

First, a jurisdiction founded upon the relation
to the Court of attorneys and solicitors
considered as its officers. This jurisdiction,
commonly called the general jurisdiction of the
Court, enables it to regulate the charges made
for work done by attorneys and solicitors of
the Court, in that capacity, and to prevent
exorbitant demands.......

Second, when a contested claim for costs comes
before the Court it has jurisdiction to determine
by taxation or analogous proceedings the amount
of costs....

Third, there is a statutory jurisdiction derived
at first from' (here he refers to a mixture of
early England legislation and later the New South
Wales Legal practitioners Act, ......)J).

the inherent jurisdiction of the Court over "its officers’.

More recent assertions of the inherent jurisdiction of the

Courts over the charges made by solicitors appear in the judgments

of Cross,

2 All E.R.

J. in In re A Solicitor (1961) 1 Ch. 491: (1961)

321 and that of Wilberforce, J. in Electrical Trades

Uhion v. Tarlo (1964) Ch. 720.

In the former, Cross, J. said at mnage 502:

"I turn now to the question of the inherent
jurisdiction. From the earliest times the
various courts of law and equity exercised
control over the attorneys or solicitors who
practised in them. In time the profession

of attorney or solicitor came to be regulated
by statute, but the inherent jurisdiction of
the court over its officers continued to
exist as a supplement to the statutory
regulation....

(Cross, J. then referred to Storer § Co. v.

Johnsen and Weatherall (ant€) ... and pointed
out that dealins with solicitor's costs ynder
the inherent jurisdiction differed from

ordering taxation under the Solicitors Act (1857)).
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In the latter, Wilberforce, J. said at p. 734:

"I think it is undisputed that secn. 50 of the
Solicitors Act, 1957, has not taken away the
general Jurlsdlctlon which the court has always
possessed over solicitors as officers of the
court ..... the court has inherent jurisdiction
to secure that the solicitor, as an officer of
the court, is remunerated properly, and no more,
for work he does as a solicitor......"

Incidentally the Court's inherent jurisdiction over
solicitors may arise not only in solicitor and own client
relations, but even in solicitor and his relations to the other

narty: see Myers v. Elman (1940) A.C. 282, where a solicitor

who failed effectively to see that his client made a proper
affidavit of documents was ordered by the Court to pay 2/3rds.
of the taxed costs of the opposite party, who had been adversely
affected by this failure of the solicitors duty to the Court.

It may be thought that the Court's control over the fees of
solicitors or attorneys is confined to civil as opposed to
criminal work. This is not so. There are cases in the renorts
where the jurisdiction has been exercised in criminal cases,
though these are less frequent, for obvious reasons.

One of the earliest is the case of Walmesley v. Booth (1741)

2 Atk. 25; 26 E.R. 412, 1In that case the client Japhet Crook
had been arrested and was to be prosecuted for perjury and
forgery (the latter was then a capital offence), and engaged
the defendant to get bail for him. The defendant managed to
get two persons to stand bail, and also persuaded the client to
make a will in his favour giving him a legacy of 1,000 and also
a bond to ensure the payment of the legacy, plﬁs legacies of
#500 each to the bailors. On his release the client revoked
that will, and by a new will appcinted the plaintiff his
executrix and residuary legatee. It appears that the law
eventually caught up with the client. Fe died (he afterwards
suffered as he deserved) and the plaintiff sued to set aside

the bond. The defendant set up that it was given in respect
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of his legal services. This seems to have at first succeeded,

but on reconsideration the Lord Chancellor set it aside. Fe
observed that it was obtained by an attorney from his client
while the client was under criminal prosecution, "a very
material ingredient in the case™ and a principal ground for

giving judgment. Lord Fardwick (the Lord Chancellor) then

observed:

"Attornies and solicitors, especially since the
late act of Parliament, 2 Geo 2 C 23, have been
considered as officers of justice, and they have
stated fees allotted them, which .they ought not
to exceed; and therefore in all courts, but more
especially in courts of law, there are certain
rules for regulating their behaviour with regard
to their clients.........

«..... The consequence of this is, that there is
a strong alliance between an attorney and his
client, and a great obligation upon the attorney
to take care of his client's interest; and the
court will relieve a client against the extor-
tion of an attorney....."

(Turning to the facts of the case he observed that
at most the fees due could not have been more
than 26 shillings.)

"It has been said that Japhet Crook was a very
cunning fellow, and a very great knave, and I
believe it to be true; but the court must not
consider the particular circumstances of the man,
but the case in general; for a person may be
prosecuted for these very crimes, and yet be
innocent; and it would be very mischievous if
there was any encouragement given to an undue

advantage taken of another under such circum-
stances.....

Because all the courts, both of law and equity,
order their bills to be taxed; and there are a
number of cases in this court, where a client,
unassisted by an attorney, has paid a law bill,
and accepted a receipt for it, and yet has been
allowed to open the whole account notwithstanding,
and to take exceptions to any improper or ex-
travagant charge in an attorney's bill. .... And
what is the reason the court goes upon in such
determination? why, the great power and influence
that an attorney has over his client... Now con-
sider the present case; here is an extravagant
reward given for services......."

In the event the Lord Chancellor directed ''the Master to
inquire what extraordinary services the defendant had done to

intitle him to any reward, and what is justly due for fees."




N\

-47-

Lord Hardwicke followed this approach in Saunderson v.

Class (1742) 2 Atk. 298; 26 E.R. 581, where he remarked:

"It is truly said at the bar, that a
security obtained by an attorney, whilst he
is doing business for his client, or whilst
a cause is depending, appears to this court
in quite a different light than between two
common persons; for if an attorney, pendente
lite, prevails upon a client to agree to an

exorbitant reward, the court will either set

1t aside 1intirely, or reduce it to the standard

of those fees to which he 1s properly intitled;

and this was the rule that weighed with me 1in
Walmsley v. Booth .... (ante)."

Other such cases in which the Courts have had to consider

and on occasion order taxation in attorneys' bills in respect

of criminal cases may be found, for example in the following:

Re E. D. Lewis, ex parte Munroe (1876) 1 0.B.D. 724 (bill of

costs for criminal proceedings in the Magistrate's Court

frequently taxed by the master of the Crown Office).

In re Jones (1895) 2 Ch. 719, a decision of Stirling, J.

in which the headnote records:

""Costs relating to business done by a solicitor
in the court of a police magistrate, or in a
Court of Quarter Sessions, are subject to
taxation in the usual way; and an agreement as

to the amount of such costs may be examined into,
and, if necessary, be set aside by a judge of
the Figh Court.

zé |

And see Stirling, J. at p. 725, citing and following Re Lewis

(ante).

Stirling, J's decision was affirmed by the Court of

Appeal in In re Jones (1896) 1 Ch. 222: that report contains .

more details. The client was charged with receiving stolen

goods.

He retained Jones as his solicitor to defend him.

After being committed for trial he paid his solicitor /25 on

account, and two days later signed the following document:
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"I agree your costs in the matter of my
defence, you to pay counsels' fees, and all
other disbursements, at f75," and he signed it.

The client was tried and acquitted. Fe paid the balance
of /75 but later took out a summons attacking the agreement and
seeking taxation, under the Act of 1870. The Court of Appeal
ruled that the Figh Court did have jurisdiction, and that the
words in Section 4 of the Act of 1870 'apply to business done
in all Courts, including a criminal Court, or no Court at alil."

The decision to order taxation was affirmed, (see also Re

Jackson [ 1915] 1 K.B. 371 and [ 1914-5] All E.R. 959.

The conclusion to be drawn from this review of these cases
relating to solicitors fees for legal work done by them, is
that apart from statutory provisions the Courts have an
inherent or as it is sometimes called a general jurisdiction
over them, and the fees that they charge. This derives from
the fact that solicitors or attorneys are officers of the Court,
and as such subject to its jurisdiction, particularly as to the
fees they charge. Further this jurisdiction extends to all
legal work, including work in the criminal Courts. The English
Legislation has given solicitors‘there increased freedom in
making lump sum agreements with their clients, with a view to
avoiding the necessity of preparing detailed bills of costs for
taxation, but that legislation contains safeguards for the client
in that before it may be sued on by the solicitor it must be
examined by the Master to see whether it is fair and reasonable,
and he in turn may refer it to the Court for decision on this
score.

Inder either the statutory or the inherent jurisdiction the
Court may set aside any such lump sum agreement as unfair or/and
unreasonable, and of course on the score of undue influence.

Mr. Macaulay's submission that the Court's power to examine

such an agreement and set it aside for undue influence &pplies
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the borrowe? Legislation, and to what extent they have adopted,
or omitted provisions, and then seszing what the net effect is.
It might be without offence a legal game of hide and seek.

A5 TO SCLICITORS IN JAMAICA:

The earliest Jamaican Statute that has been traced with

regard to Sclicitors is Jarmaica Law 9 of 1869 entitled -

"A Law to amend the Laws for the admission of Attorneys,

Solicitors and Proctors in Jamaica.” This Law was clearly

~odelled on the U.¥. Solicitors Act, 1843 (6 § 7 Vict C 73).

In many of the clauses the wording is identical. Like its
English counterpart, Jamaica Law $ of 1865 provided for the
adnission and enrolment of Attorneys, Solicitors and Proctors.

It provided for their gualifications and service under articles,
their examination, admission and enrolment. It »rovided against
ungualified persons purporting to take out legal process and
execute 1éga1 documents. And there the Jamaican Statute stops!
Completely missing are the U.X. provisions that appear from
Section 37 onwards dealing with solicitors sueing for their fees,
the necessity of first submitting a detailed bill, the possibility
of sending it to be taxed, the cne sixth rule and so forth. But
there are nrovisions dealing with striking off a solicitor from
the rolls.

Chapter 460 of the 1938 Revised Code of the Laws of Jamaica:

— s o ——————

The Solicitors lLaw gives the law 9 of 1869 as the basic law,
and lists all the amendments made to it from that time until
the 1last such amendment in 1929: all have been carefully examined;
without excention they deal with minor amendments concerning the
admission of solicitors and amendments of the . machinery that set

up the Solicitors’ Disciplinary Committee and the mode of

application to it by a lay person or client who had complaints
against a solicitor and wished to have redress for them.

It will however be remembered that the U.K. Supreme Court

0f Judicature Act, 1873, contained in Secticn 287 a provision
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fusing solicitors, attorneys and nproctors into the gencric
name of solicitors, and exvressly preserving the power of the
Courts over them as "0Officers of the Court.” 1In 1879 the
Jamaican Legislature adopted the provisions of that famous
et (which fused the principles of law and egquity) in the

Jamaica Judicature Law of 1879, and it appears that shortly

after by Law 31 of 1885 a section similar to that in Section §7

of the U.X., Act of 1873 was inccrporated therein. It apveared 1
in subsequent re-enactments of the Jamaica Judicature Law, %
sze Section 26 of Car. 430 of the 1938 Code, and Section 16 of
Cap. 180 of the 1953 Ccde.

Further the Jamaica Judicature Law 24 of 1&7% contained a
seneral provision with regard to Costs being in the discretion
of the Court. The last line of that section states “'ilo cests
shall be recoverable until they have been taxed by the Registrar
or his deputy."

A fair reading of the section would confine *‘costs” there
tc being costs of and incident tc nroceedings in the Supreme
Court.

The very next section, Section 36 provided for Rules of
Court to be made by the Chief Justice with the concurrence of

the pnuisne judges, and provided that rules might be made:

“For regulating matters relating to costs and
the taxation therecf, of proceedings in the
Court, including the costs of solicitors, the
expenses of witnesses, and the fees of bailiffs."
These vrevisions of the Jamaica Judicature Law, 13879,
have continued to be brought forward in subsecquent re-enactment
of the Codes of Jamaica Laws: They appear in the 1938 Code as

Cap. 430 Sections 42 and 43; in the 1953 Code as Cap. 180

Sections 42 and 43,
Ouite apart from the Civil Procedure Code containing the

Rules of the Supreme Court, under the provisions of the Judicature
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Law of 1279 there was issued a Book of ""Ceneral Rules and

Orders™, of the Sunteme Court of Judicature, Part VII of which

is entitled: “"Ceneral provisichs"” and they contain from pata.

74 onwards provisions dealins with%Costs’, The opening lines
of para. 24 state:
"In all cases of costs, whether between party
and. party, or between solicitor and client, it
sb 1l be competent for ‘the party having te pay. .
such costs to offer by notice a sum in gross in
lieu of such costS;i......”

The rule continued to the effect that this offer can be
accepted, but if not accepted and taxation is insisted on the
~arty refusing the offer shall be charged with the costs of the
taxation if he gets less costs awarded to him than had been
oririnally offered. Then there follows from para; 29 onwards

of the Ceneral Provisions a series of provisions under the

cantion "Taxation of Costs” and it is clear from the provisions

that there could be taxation of costs between solicitor and (own)

client. The »rovisions contain the well known one sixth rule as
to the costs of taxation. Para. 30 allowed for appeals from the

taxing officer to the judge, while para. 31 stated:

"Wo action shall be cdommenced for the recovery
of any bhill of costs until the same shall have
been taxed by the Registrar after notice to the
party intended to be charged thereby.”

. The present Ceneral Rules and Orders are still in current

use¢, and have been amended from time to time. They are also

srecifically referred te in the Judicature (Civil Procedure Code) -

sce Section 687,
The Solicitors Law, Cap. 460 of the 1932 Jarmaica Revised

Taws appears in the 1953 Pevised Laws as Cap. 363: The Solicitors

Law. There was no substantial change, save that by Law €4 of

1941, (matching a similar development that had taken place earlier
in the U.X.) the solicitor's disciplinary committee was given the

nower itself to make orders striking off solicitors from the roll,
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instead of merely making a report and recormendations to the
Court, as was the case before. Provisions were made as to
the form which their orders should take, and for apneals to
the Suvnreme Court. The vnossibility of similar applications
to the Suprerme Court to strike off solicitors was preserved
and slichtly modified. The statute continued to recognize
expressly the inherent jurisdiction of the Supnreme Court over
solicitors: see Section 43 of Cap. 363, re-enacting a

v~ ision that dated back to Section 17 of Jamaica Law 35 of
1¥3%¢, This was also reinforced by the re-enacting in Sec. 19

of the Judicature (Supreme Court) Law, Cap. 180 of the 1953

Laws of the provision that stated that solicitors were officers
of the Supremes Court, and expressly preserved the Courts
inherent jurisdiction over themn.

Turning to the Jamaican lLaw Reworts of the period up to
1953 to see how in Jamaica the Courts exercised jurisdiction
with regard to taxing costs as between solicitor and own
client, two thinpgs become apparent: (a) the Jomaican Courts
were awarc of and exercised the Courts inherent jurisdiction
over solicitors as officers of the Court, and (b) that despite
the absence of substantive law, such as existed in the U.X.
Statutes referred to above, the Courts by the application of
this jurisdiction an? the nrovisions in the Ceneral Rules and
Crders of the Supnreme Court in fact exercised control over
the fees charged by solicitors to their own clients.

The second volume of Stephens Renorts which spans a

neriod from 1855 to 1522 contains under the cantion “Solicitors”

several cases that illustrate both propositions.
The inherent jurisdiction, or summary jurisdiction as it is
sometimes called, was referred to and exercised in Anderson v.

Watson (1876) 2 Stevhens 1797. This was a case of a complaint

pu—
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to the Court of an c¢xcessive and extortionate ©ill of costs to

the client. The Court there asserted its inherent juriédictions
but declined to excrcise it, following an %nglish case, Heux V.
éiEXQ (1857) z C.B8.N.5. to the effect that unlsss there was alsc
evidence of fraud the Court would leave excessive charges to

be dealt with by taxation which offered sufficient protection
and would»not on that score exercise their jurisdiction to

strike off or discirline the solicitor.

In White v. Bell (1881) 2 Stcoh. 1799 the Court referred

t0 an equitable rule which was in force long before the U.X.

solicitors Act of 1843 (8 § 7 Vict. C. 73) which required ""that

zvery bill of cost for whatever description of business done

zhall be liable to taxation.’ The rule apnlied to suits in

cquity, and annlied both in fngland and Jamaica to dealings
between solicitor and client.

Presumably, since the Judicature Act in England of 1873
and in Jamaica of 1879, the equitable rule would now take
vrecedence and operate generally, though it had not been

specifically enacted in Jamaica as it had, in England in the 184Z

Solicitors Act.

The case is of some interest otherwise, in that the client

complained that deswite the large cash advances he had paid the
solicitor the latter did not aprly them to paying counsel with
the result that when the case first came to trial it was adjournca

with costs against the client, the solicitor saying that he had

appropriated these advances to his own fees. The Court here

exercised its inherent jurisdiction and ordercd the solicitor
to ray out of his own vnocket the costs of the adjournmant that

his conduct had forced on the client.

In In re Bell (19201) 2 Steph. 1819 a Solicitor's bill to

his own client was the subject of taxation and reduced on

taxation from £181.9.7. to #116.2.10 and the Court wasasked by
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the Registrar to consider whether the making of certain charges
for work that the solicitor did not in fact do amounted to
conduct which should be dealt with by the Court exercising its
inherent jurisdiction. The solicitors disciplinary committee
seenms to have been of that opinion, but the Court, exercising
its jurisdiction found the offence proved but was content to
reprimand the solicitor and order him to nay the costs of the
motion. Mr. Bell did not apparently learn from this e¢xperience,
as two years later in In re Bell (1903) 2 Steph. 1823 he was
found guilty of professional misconduct and the Court accented
the report of the solicitor's committee and suspended him from
nractice for two years.

It is of interest to note that in those days it was
considered professional misconduct for a solicitor to accept

money for doing legal work, and not doing it or refunding the

h

ee: See In re a Solicitor (1891) 2 Stevh. 1807: In re Lyon

{1897) 2 Steph. 1816, and more recently In re a Solicitor (1837)

Stephens Reports also contains cases in which solicitors

sued for their fees: Johnson v, Williams (18S95) 2 3teph. 1815

and Livingston § Alexander v. Fay (1615) 2 Steph. 1836, and

cases in which their clients sued them for negligence: Manley v.

Bailhache (1893) 2 Steph. 1809 (The solicitor won), Alexander v.

Simpson (1903) 2 Steph. 1825 (the solicitor lost).
After a gap of several years the problem of solicitor and

own clients fees came before the Courts again in Neita v. Bernard

(1343) 4 J.L.R. 110 (C.A.). The case is of interest for several
reasons: it shows the registrar of the Supreme Court, as taxing
master, being asked to tax a solicitor's bill (at the request of
the solicitor who wanted to sue the client) in respect of several
items including the cost of appearing in criminal cases in the

Resident Magistrate's Court.
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As to the taxation on those items there was apparently
no appeal, and they were confirmed by both thc judee in
Chambers and the Court of Appeal. As to the other items, or
(M\ those in dispute, there appears to have been a conflict as to
- whether they were covered by the sclicitors’s retainer, or had
been performed after it had been determined, and the mattcr was
sent back to the judge for decision on that roint. Civing the
main judgment, Furness, €.J. remarked at paze 111 that the Court

of Anpeal approved the practice set out in the Report of the

3

cgistrar (fr., Trevor Lyons) as to practice on taxation in
Jamaica. That Renort notes:

(‘; “"In the first place I wish to say that in

- Jamaica there is no authority by statute for
the Registrar to tax solicitor and client bills
of costs which have no reference to proceedings
in the Supreme Court and might on that account
be held to come within the powers of the
Registrar under secn. 10 (1) of Cap 430 (The
Judicature Law), but that the PFegistrar has
always taxed such bills by virtue of long
existing practice which apnears to have
originated as a result of, or to have been
acmnowled sed by, Rule 31 of Part VII of the
Ceneral ! "ulés and Orders of the Sunreme Court
whith were made by the Judges on 28th August,
128G, and published in the Jamaica Cazette of

- 13th Aprril, 1882, and which came into operation

(y‘ on the 1st July, 1882 - see Jamaica CGazette of

27th April, 1882....."

After referring to certain other items, the Report states

"5, Agreement to charge a lump sum:

I have followed the practice which I
understand has always existed and refused
to decide whether or not there was an
agreement by the solicitor to charge a lump
sum - I tax as to guantum and leave that
question for the trial judge."”

Faving regard to the available English Legislation dealing
with these problems, and nossibly to the fact that Jamaican
Jolicitors were required to take and pass examinations set by the
Law Society in England, it appears that there was a tacit

sssumption that the vprovisicns of Part VII of the Ceneral Rules
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end Orders of the Supreme Court made under the Judicature Law
of 1879, and the Courts inherent jurisdiction over solicitors
as officers of the Court were sufficient to produce a situation
similar to that in England, where bills of costs to one's own
client had to be taxed »rior to being sued on and so forth.

As to agrecments to charge a lumn sum in the absence of express
legislation they fell to be determined by the general law on

the subject as it appcars in cases such as Bdwards v. Meyrick

(1842) ante, Re Whitcombe (1844) ante, Steadman v. Collett (1854)

and the cases such as Clare v. Joseph (1907) in which the Courts

considered the law both before and after the iegislation of
1870 and 1881 had ¢iven recognition to the making of lump sum
agreements with respect to solicitors' fees.

AS TO BARRISTERS 1IN JAMAICA:

Turning to the situation of the barristefs in Jamaica they
enjoyed without benefit of legislation the same freedom from
control that was enjoyed by their counterparts in England, with
this difference that they were so far removed from the control
exercised by the Inns of Court that we have seen that the judges
nad to assume and exercise their inherent jurisdiction over them,
{see the cases cited earlier and Section 6 of Law 39 of 1896,
supra).,

The earliest Law dealing with barristers in Jamaica appears

to be Law 45 of 1869 (repealed by Law 39 of 1896 supra). It

srovided for the admission of a limited number of attorneys to

)

be called ‘'advocates”™ to whom was given the right of audience
in the Figher Courts; it was apparently an attempt to meet a

then existing shortage of barristers by providing that attorneys
or snlicitors, if so chosen, —isht act as such. The existing
barristers were not happy with this arranpement. Three ycars

later, apnnrently at their requost Law 36-of 1872 was
rassed. It returned the compliment by providing that the

barristers for their part might also be admitted as attorneys,
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sclicitors or nroctors under Law 9 of 13562, Thev would have
211 the »nrivileges and liabilities of the new status, but would
continue to be erntitled to act as barristers.

At this stage ihen Jariaica had arrived at a situatiecn not
un’ike that existing in Mew Zealand today. There werc solicitors
LY attorneys who might become "advocates” arnd gain the right to
practice as barristers (without the titde), while on the other
hand thers were barristers who might apply for and cain the right
to practice as attorneys and solicitors, without in any way
jeopardizing their status as barristers. No doubt there were
nembers of each nrofession who continued to practice as either
barrister or sclicitor, simpliciter.

The next Law dealing with barristers was Law 39 of 1286

3

The Jamaica Par “epulation Law, It did severel things: first

it extended fo nersons who had been solicitors in Jamaica for not
less than ten vears (or in certain wpositions in the Legal Service
focr not less than five years) the privilege of being enrolled

as members of the Jamaica Bar on their passing the examinaticn
prescribed in England by the Inns of Court for admission to the
Zar and dispensed with the necessity of their serving terms. They
had of course to be struck off the roll of Solicitors before being
enrolled as Barristers.

The same Law vmernitted also the reverse movement, that is
that Barristers who had been garolled for three vears could be
reoved from the roll of Barristers and enrolled as Solicitors.

Section 6 of that Law also expressly recognized the
inherent nower of the Supreme Court to strike barristers off the
roll for any professional misconduct for which a2 Barrister-at-Law
would be disbarred by the Inns of Court in England.

Tinally, Law 39 of 1896, repealed both Law 45 of 1869 and

Law 36 of 1872, without prciudice however to the rights which

practitioners had acnuired under them.

PP

.....
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The net effect then is that for a period of twenty-five
years Jamaica had a system under which solicitors or attorneys
might become "advocates’ and enjoy the rights of audience
normally reserved for barristers, while barristers for their
part could if they wished acquire the additional status of
solicitors or zattorneys, and enjoy the rights of direct access
to the client, while »reserving their right of audience in
tise Supreme Court. It was a situation rather similar to that
wnich obtains today in New Zealand. Infortunately the full
story of how it werked out in w»nractice is 2 task for the legal
historian of the future, It was abandoned and the dividing
line between the two nrofessions was once again drawn up or laif
down. The nractitioner who enjoyed both statuses disappeared
from the legal scene, at least for the time beins, not to re-
appear for another sixty years. (It might vperhans be noted that
o clerical mistake occurred in Law 39 of 18%&: €. 9, the repeal
section, by mistake trencaled Law 37 of 1872 (The Kingston
Glaughter l'ouse Law) instead of Law 36 of 1872, and this was
corrected in Law 10 of 1897).

Law 39 of 18S%¢, The Jamaica Bar Regulaticn Law, continued
to be re-enacted in the successive codes of Jamaican Laws: It

became Cap. 459 of the 1938 Revisced Laws, and Cap. 171 of the

i253 Nevised Laws (with a minor amendment tco permit barristers

tc join the Jamaica Covernment legal Scervice and practice at the
Iar without having been formally admitted as barristers to the
Jamaica 3Bar).

It was some sixty or more years after 1896, that Legislation
affecting the Jamaica Bar was again reintroduced. This was

Law 3/1960 - The Bar Fegulation Law, 1260. Part I of the new

ol

law provided a formal Roll of Barristers admitted to practice
in Jamaica, to be kept by the Pepistrar of the Supreme Court.

Tart II provided for the setting up of a Pisciplinary Committec
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of the (Jamaica) kar Association to consist of the Attorney

fencral and six other members drawn from barristers in private |
practice appointed by the Covernor cn thz recommendation of

the Bar Associztion made in general mecting. The model used
was that of the Soliciters Disciplirary Committee. The
Committec was given the power to strike off or susmend or

fine offending barristers. Arpeals lay tc the Court of Apnneal
at the instance of the barrister concerned. There were in
addition rrovisions similar to that in the Solicitors Law
against nractice by unqualified persons as barristers.

Finally the sccond schedule of the Law provided for the Bar
Council, with thc approval of the Bar Association to determine
rules of practice and etigquette, while Section 17 provided

that where the rules sc made permitted a barrister to act for

a client without the instruction of a solicitor, then he shoula
in such instances be entitled to suc for “is fees, but should
lose. the immunity of the barrister and was tc be liable for
negligence in his professional canacity, and would be required

to tax his feces before the Pecistrar of the Suvreme Court or a

Clerk of the Courts as if those fees were solicitor's costs,

Fe was also made liable to account to the client fer money
received in the same manner as if he were that client's solicitor.
The Law repealed Secticon 7 of the Jamaica Ear Regulation Law,
That Section, mentioned earlier as Secticn ¢ of Law 39 of 1896,
had expressly reccrnized the inherent power of the judges of
the Supreme Court, with or without an avnnlication, to order
that a barrister be struck off the rell for any professional
misconduct for which he would have been disbarred by the Inns
of Court in England. It may one day be a matter of sone
consequence to deterwine if the repeal of a Scction that simrly

recognized the inherent jurisdicticn of the judges of the
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Supreme Court over members of the Bar practising. before them

has resulted not merely in repeal of the recognition of a power

that has existed for several hundred years, but repeal of the

power itself. As, has been pointed out earlier, that power,

applicable to solicitors as well as barristers, extends far
beyond disciplining or striking off of members of the
profession to considerations of how the litigation has been
conducted before the Court, and includes a power to order

the legal practitioner to personally pay the costs out of his
own pocket wherever the situation warrants this finding: See

for example Myers v. Elman (1940) A.C. 282. A repeal of such a

power may leave defenceless or without any adequate remedy those
who have suffered as a consequence of the way in which the legal
practitioner has conducted the.litigation against them.

The power given to the Bar Council to determine the
"rules of practice and etiquette in Jamaica" was speedily exercised.
By Proclamation Rules and Regulations Mo. 60 p. 277 published on

Thursday 30th June, 1960 - The Bar Council with the approval of

the Bar Association approved the following rules of practice and
etiquette:

"1. A Queen's Counsel may appear in any case
or matter without a Junior and may
settle Pleadings and Grounds of Appeal.

2. A barrister may appear in a Criminal
case without being instructed by a
Solicitor."

On the 9th November, 1961, by P.R.R. No. 236 p. 540

it was announced:
"It is proper practise for Counsel”

(a) To negotiate the settling of negligence
cases out of Court, up to the stage
where liability is denied;

®) To apply for Probate and letters of
Administration in the various Courts of
this Island. up to the stage where any
such application becomes contentious.
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"(c)} To file suits in 2ll matrimonial
causes and do all matters in connec-
tion therewith until appearance has
been entered:

Provided that no advocate who has the rank of
Queen's Counsel shall »nerform any of the
functions which in England are werformed by

a Solicitor and are not nerformed by a
Barrister."

In Stewart v, Lewis (1967) 10 J.L., 129; 11 W,I.R. 99,

the appellant, a barrister-at-law, was retained by the
respondent to renresent him at the hearing of a rreliminary
enquiry into a charce of manslauphter against the repondent.
The fee charged was ceventy-five guineas, and a portion was
paid leaving a balance of £40 in respect of which the client
gave a nromissory note. The barrister sued on the note, but
was non-suited by the Resident Magistrate on the principie
that a barrister could not sue for his fees. On appeal to
the Court of Appeal, btenrigues, J.A. pointed to the provisions
of the Bar Regulation Law, 1960, and tc the rules of practice
und etiquette that had been made under it and which permitted
2 barrister to appear in a criminal case without a solicitor.

The appeal was allowed, but a new trial was ordered on the

question of the cenuineness or otherwisc of the promissory note.,

a matter raised by the defence but not deccided by the Resident
Magistrate.

A few comments on the case may be made as it left
unresolved certain issues: Section 17 of The Bar Regulation
Law, 1960, said that the barrister might be liable to be
reguired to tax his fees. Infortunately it did not indicate
(a) whether taxation was a condition precedent to an action
for recovery; nor (b) did it deal with the nosition of client
and barrister having apreed a lump sum fee: was this fee
demandable as of right, or was it liable to be reviewed, on

ordinary princinles as to whether it was fair and reasonable

-



or not? IUp to that stage no law had ever been nassed, for
either profession, dealing with agreements between legal
nractitioner and client as to the size of the fee or its

manner of payment. Turning back to Neita v. Bernard and the

observations of the then Registrar of the Supreme Court,
could the Rule 31 of the Supreme Court Ceneral Pules and
Orders which provides that no action shall be commenced for
the recovery of any bill of costs until the same shall have
been taxed have been applied? In any event those rules made
no provision for asreements to charge a2 lumn sum, and as to
these the Registrar was content to remark that he taxed the
bill and left it to the judge to decide issues as to the
lump sum agreement. The case is however authority for the
Registrar's taxing cf bills including those for criminal work
in the Resident Magistrate's Ccurts.

The better opinion would appear to be that the ordinary
rules of common la&w and equity applied: and that if the issue
nf whether the charges made by the agreed fee were reascnable
was raised, it would be resolved by the general law as it

appears in cases such as Edwards v. Meyrick (1842) ante,

Re Whitcombe (1844), Stedman v. Collett (1854) and the views

expressed in cases such as Clare v. Joseph (1907) ante, viz.

that it is a question of fact, the onus of which would lie on
the legal practitioner to show that the agreement was fair

and reasonable. If it were not, then the practitioner should
be allowed to recover only what was fair and rcasonable. If
the Court's inhercnt jurisdiction still survives, it would be

possible to say as Wilberforce, J. said in the Electrical Trades

Union v. Tarlo “that the Court has inherent jurisdiction to

secure that the solicitor, (read barrister), as an officer of
the Court, is remunerated properly, and no more, for work he

does....."
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“does not affect the nosition of a client who
sets up an agreement as to ccsts with a
solicitor."”

In Clare v. Joseph the agreement was an oral one by the

solicitor to charge no costs if he won his action, and, if he
lost it, to charge only the same amount for costs as he would

have recovered from the opposite party had the action been

successful. Though oral, it was upheld against the solicitor.

Fletcher Moulton, L.J. at page 376 put the matter thus:

""Let us now consider the state of the law on
this subject at the date of the coming into
operation of the Act of 1870. At that date
agreements between a solicitor and his client

as to the terms on which the solicitor's
business was to be done were not necessarily
unenforceable. They were however viewed with
great jealousy by the Courts, because they

were agreements between a man and his legal
adviser as to the terms of the Tatter's remunera-
‘tion, and there was so great an opportunity for
the exerC1se of undue influénce, that the Courts
were very slow to enforce such agreements where
they were favourable to the solicitor unless
they were satisfied that they were made under
circumstances that nrecluded any suspicion of

an 1mproper attempt on the solicitor's part to
benefit himself at his client's expense......

Section 4 therefore, was not required for the
purpose of enabling persons to enter into these
agreements, nor was it required in order to
strengthen the hands of the Courts in their
examination of them. Before 1870 the Court had
full power to investigate thelr propriety, and
in my opinion the specific provisions of s. 4
did no more than provide and regulate a proce-
dure for the control of such asreements:; they
did not in substance alter the law affecting
them., ..."

Fletcher Moulton, L.J. then considered the scheme of the

Act as a whole.

Buckley, L.J. at p. 378 said:

“"The law in existence when the Act of 1870 was

passed is clear; the solicitor could not charge
h1s client more than the amount of his bill of

costs when taxed, and it was his duty to advise
his client that 1t was contrary to his interest
to pay more ....."

Fe concludes his examination of the Act of 1870, S.

“The effect of s. 4 is, I think, that whether the
solicitor is to have remuneration at a greater or
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from the Acts, the Court could order taxation of bills relating
to Court business, and also could refer part of a bill for
taxation. That decision was upheld on appeal by the town agents

to the House of Lords: see Storer § Co. v. Johnson and

Weatherall (1890) 15 A.C. 203. At page 206 Lord Falsbury, L. Ch,

after noting that such a reference was not possible under the
Act, said:

e eeon I think it is quite clear that the
Solicitors Act did not deprive the Court of the
jurisdiction which they always possessed to do
justice in the premises when dealing with one

of their officers, and that they might therefore
order that the costs should be taxed, although
not in terms of the Solicitors Act..."

The other members of that Court agreed in affirming the
Court of Appeal decision, though varying slightly the terms
on which the taxation was ordered.

In In re park, Cole v. Park (1889) 41 Ch. D. 326 (C.A.) at

wage 331, Stirling, J. at first instance put the matter very
clearly. PFe said:
"Now, in dealing with solicitors' costs; the
Court has a threefold jurisdiction. First, the
statutory jurisdiction conferred by the
Solicitors Acts.

Secondly, the Court has, I apprehend, juris-
iction to deal with solicitors' bills of costs

under its general jurisdiction over the officers
of the Court. .....

Then, thirdly, there remains the ordinary juris-
diction of t%e Court in dealing with contested
claims. ...."

Fe went on at pages 333 et seq. to discuss how the Courts
¢f Common Law dealt with an action on a solicitor's bill of

costs. The decision was affirmed by the Court of Appeal.

In re Park, (ante) was followed in re Foss, Bilborough,

Plaskitt and Foss (1912) 2 Ch. 161, and again in Jones & Son v.

Whitehouse (1918) 2 K.B. 61 (C.A).

In Woolf v. Snine (1933) 48 C.L.R. 677, Dixon, J. delivering

the judgment of the Figh Court of Australia in a case involving
taxation of costs by a solicitor against his client, said at

n. 678:
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The situation created by the Bar Fesulation Law, 1960,

which in effect licensed barristers to make incursions at will
into the fields traditionally reserved for solicitors, without
giving the latter any reciprocity to enlarce their risht of
audience into the Supreme Court and fields rescrved for
barristers, did not long survive. 2y Act 15 of 1971, The

Legal Profession Act, 1971 the two professions were “fused”

the barrister ceased to exist as such and the two professions
were in effect amalgamated into the solicitors profession
with a change of name; the new legal practitioner became known

as an Attorney-at-Law. The Law provided for the setting up

of a common roll to be kept by the Registrar of the Supreme
Court. Sccticn 5 provides for the new status of the legal

practitioner, the attorney-at-law, and for his “practice as »

lawyer.” This phrase is defined as meaning “practise as a
barrister or a sclicitor or both as »nrovided or recognized by
Law whether before cr after the passing of this Act.” Fowever,
as the Sectior shows, taken with the whole of the Act, no
difference now remains between the twoe branches of the
nrofession; there is not only a common rcll but a common
discipline and functiocn. Section 5 sub-sections 1, 2, and 3
read:
5, {1) Every nerson whose nare is entered
on the Roll shall be known as an attorney-at-
law (hereinafter in this Act referred to as
an attorney) and -
(2) subject to subsection (2), be
entitled to practisc as a lawyer
and to sue for and recover his
fees for services rendered as such;
(b) be an officer of the Supreme Court
except for the nurpnoses of section 23
of the Judicature (Supreme Court) Act;
and
(c) when acting as a lawyer, be subject

to all such liabilities as attach by
law to a solicitor.

I
< 2K
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" (2) Subject to section 7, a merson shall
not practise as a lawyer excent by virtue of
and in nccordancc with a practising certi-
ficate which shall be issued by the Council,
on payment to the Secretary of the Council
of the prescribed fee, in the annrOﬁrlqte
form in the Second Schedule.

(3) L person who sractises in contra-
vention of subsecticn (2) shall be incapable
o€ maintaining any action for the recovery
cf any fee or reward ca account of or in
relation to any act or proceeding done or
taken by him in the course of such practice...”

It will be noted that Section 5(1) (b) provides that the
attorney-at-law is to be:
Y.v.. an officer of the Surnreme Court

except for the purposes of section 23
of the Judicature (Sunreme Court) Act.”

It will be remembered that followiny a similar Section
in the U.K, Judicature Act of 1273 a Section had been inserted
into the Jamailcan Judicature Acts and apweared as Section 20 of
Cap. 430 of the 1532 Code and Section 19 of Cap. 180 of the
1953 Code, it had the marginal note “status of solicitor” and
nreserved the inherent jurisdiction of the Sunreme Court over
solicitors as “officers of the Court.” It had a corresponding
Section in the &olicitors Law, see Can. %63 Section 43 wi
marginal note "jurisdiction of judres over solicitors’, and
further corvespondine Section in Section 7 of the Jamaica RBar
fegulation Law, which rave the judres nower to strike a
barrister off the rolls for misconduct which would have caused
him te be disbarred by the Inns of Court in Emagland. It will
be remembered, as remarked above, that the Jamaica DJar Regulation
Law, Law 3 of 1960 mad repealed the Secticn 7 of the previcus
Jamaica Bar lerulation Law, and doubt was expressed as to
whether this involved the repeal of the judpes inherent powers
over the barristers.

Section 41 of the Legal Preofession Act refers to a

-~

Schedule 5 consisting of Laws repealed by the new Act: they

include the entirety of (a) the old Jamaica Bar Rcrulation Law,

s
e

1



(Can. 171); (b) the Solicitors Law (Can. 383):; (c) the new

2ar Regulation Law, Law 3 of 1960; and in addition Section 1%
of the Judicature (Supreme Court) Law, (Carn. 180). The fact
that a repealing Law has itself been repealed does not of
course revive the Laws that it repealed. The draftsman of the
Legal Profession Act has however gone out of his way to reneal
all the Secticns, wherever they were to be found, that
recoznized in the judeges of the Supreme Court an inherent
jurisdiction over both solicitors and barristers. The reason
appears to have been becausc it was thousht that such inherent
vowers related solely to the discinlining of thess legal
practitioners by striking off or susnending, and these narti-
cular powers had now been given to disciplinary committees
appointed for that nurpose. This was of course not sco, as
reference to cases dealing with the enforcoment of undertakings

and ceosts will show: see acgain Myers v. Elman (1940) A.C. 282,

Fowever the insertion in the new Legal Profession Act of
Section 5(1) (b) which expressly makes the attorney-at-law
"an officer of the Supreme Court' will have the effect of
once again recognizing the inherent jurisdiction of the judges
over the legal »ractitioncrs, so that omz may perhans say “all
is well that cnds well™,

It is nccessary to »nause herc however to make a complaint
against the printing of our new sets of Jamaica Laws in their
loose leaf format., The fLegal Profession Act, 15 of 1971, had

forty-two Sections and five Schedules. Renrinted for the

ourposes of the current set of Acts it has shrunk to forty

Sections and three Schedules. This method of truncating
Legislation is going at some stage when one attempts to inter-
pret an Act by following its histery through the Statute Books

to produce chaos and to lead to some very odd and unintended
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results. Using the loose leaf svstem as we do may tell us

us where we stand now, but it certainly will not tell us how
we got there, which cn occasion may be of the greatest
importance in telling us where we have in fact reached.

Part V of the Lepal Profession Act, (1971) (Sections

21-29) 1is entitled “Pecovery of Fees' and addresses the

sroblem of both reccvery of fees and control of the same.
Section 21 of the Act deals with the recovery of fees where
there had been an asreement in writing between the attorney
and the client, and is set out in full below, aleng with

Sections 22 and 23,

UPART 'V, RECOVERY OF FEES

21. 1) An attorncy may in writing agrec
with a client as tc the amount and manner of
naymnent of fees for the whole or part of any
leral business done or to be dene by the
attorney, either by a gross sum or percentage
or ~therwise; so, however, that the attorney
making the agreement shall aot in relation to
the same matters make any further charges than
these provided in the agreement:

Provided that if in any suit commenced
for the recovery of such fecs the agreement
appears to the court to be unfair and wunreascn-
able the court may reduce the amount agreed to
be payable under the acrecment.

2) Fees mnayable under any such
agreeuent shall not be subject to the following
provisions of this Part rclating to taxation
nor tc any other provisions thercof,

22. 1) An attorney shall nct be entitled
to commence any suit for the recovery of any
fees for any lesal business done by him until
the expiration of one month after he has served
on the varty to be charged a btill of those fees,
the bill either being sioned by the attorney (or
in the casc¢ of a partnershiv by any one of the
partners ¢ither in his own name or in the name
of the nartnership) or being enclosed in or
accompanied by a letter signed in like manner
referring tc the bill:
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i Provided that if there is probable cause
for believing that the »arty chargeable with the
fees is about to leave Jamaica, or to become
bankrupt, or compound with his creditors or to
do any act which would tend to prevent or delay
the attorney obtaining payment, the Court may,
notwithstanding that one month has not expired
from the delivery of the bill, order that the
attorney be at liberty to commence an action

to recover his fees and may order those fees to
be taxed.

(2) Subject to the provisions of this
Part, any party chargeable with an attorney’'s
bill of fees may refer it to the taxing officer
for taxation within one month after the date on
which the bill was served on him.

3 If application is made within the
period of one month aforesaid a reference for
taxation may be ordered by the Court either on
the apnlication of the attorney or on the
application of the narty chargeable with the
fees, and may be ordered with such directions
and subject to such conditions as the Court
thinks fit,.

D) An attorney may without making an
application to the Court under subsection (3)
have the bill of his fees taxed by the taxing
master after notice to the party intended to be
charged thereby and the »nrovisions of this Part
shall avply as if a reference for such taxation
has beer ordered by the Court.

23. In this Part ""taxing officer’™ means the.
Registrar or such other person as may be pre-
scribed by rules of court.”
The remaining Sections in this part of the Law deal
with what may be termed the mechanics of taxation.
The following comments may be made on these provisions.
For the first time there is now statutory authority in Jamaica
for the taxation of bills as between attorney and own client,
and it is no longer necessary to rely on the provisions of the
Supreme Court Ceneral Orders referred to before, though it is
possible that these may still be releva8nt to the new situation.
In fact both the new statutory »nrovisions and those contained in
the Supreme Court General Rules and Orders were set out in full
in a booklet "A practitioner's Cuide to fees and costs in the
Supreme Court, Jamaica, 1974' published in 1974 by Attorneys

Douglas Brandon and Paul Levy.

o+
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The Sections of the Jamaican Act follow very closely

the provisions in the New Zealand Law Practitioner's Act of

1955, though they aleo have echocs of the U.¥X. Solicitors Act
of 1957,

We have not so far adopted tne distinction made in
the U.K. between fees and costs for ‘‘contentious” and non-
contentious’ matters.

We have however drawn a very sharp distinction between
cases 1in which the attorney and client have made an agrecment
in writing between them as to the cuantum of fees and those
in which they have not. The Act provides that the Fees

nayable under such an agreement shall not be subject to taxation.

Further the attorney may sue on such a contract immediately,
and is not subject to the provisions set out in Section 22

et seq. which require him to submit a bill and wait for one
nmonth before suing. These provisions are in sharp contrast
to those contained in the U.X., Attorneys' and Solicitors’ Act
of 1870 (modified by the Solicitors Remuneration Act 1881)

referred to earlier and reproduced in the U.K. Solicitors Act,

1957 as Sectiong 57 and 59 (Agreements with respect to remunera-

tion for non-contentious business, and in respect of contentious

business).

As to non-contentious business in the U.K. there 1is power
to lay down a set scale of fees for various items and the
power has been exercised. It is therefore possible for the
Courts there to commare the agreed charge with the scale fee
in addressing itself to the question of whether the agrecment
is unfair or unreasonable. As to contentious business, Sections
59-61 of the U.X. Act nrovides in effect that the agreement cannot
be sued upon until or unless the Court has approved it, and it
has been scrutinized by the taxing master. These particular

safeguards arc missing from the Jamaican Act, the only safcoguard

43
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being that contained in the proviso to Section 21 (1) to the
effect that "if in any suit for the recovery of such fees

the agreement appears to the Court to be unfair and unreason-
able the Court may reduce the amount agreed to be payable
under the agreement.”

Section 21 does not legalize such agreements between
attorney and client for the first time. They were legal before,
though "viewed with great jealousy by the Courts’ which
required to be ‘'satisfied that they were made under circum-
stances that precluded any suspicion of an improper attempt
on the solicitor's part to benefit himself a2t his client's

expense' (sec Fletcher Moulton, L.J. in Clare v. Joseph (1907)

ante). The Courts were always put upon enquiry to see whether
the agreement had been "entered into fairly and with proper
knowledge on both sides.”

Section 21 does not in terms specify on whom the onus of

proof lies: is the onus on the attorney to show that the

agreement is fair and reasonable? Or is the onus on the client

to show that the agreement is ''unfair and unrcasonable ?*

| Certainly before Section 21 was enacted the onus lay at
common law and equity on the solicitor or attorney to justify
the agreement but giving the proviso the construction intended

by the Act as a whole, it appears that the:onus of proving the

agreement unfair and unreasonable now rests upon the client who

is sued on it.

When Downer, J. in this case found that there was a fiduciary
relationship (which there was) and that this put upon the
attorney the burden of establishing that the agreement was fair
and reasonable, he was applying the old common law and equitablc
nrinciples applicable before the enactment of Section 21, and in
this respect he was in error, no doubt because the effect of
Scction 21 and apparently the entire act was not brought to his

attention below.
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Nevertheless it appears that his instinct was sound. I

would hold in the circumstiinces of this case that the client,

the defendant Dillon, had discharged the onus of showing that

the agreement was '‘unfair and unreasonable’, for the following

<~/\/ reasons:

@)
C

(c)
C

@)
C

)

It clearly appears that the fee charged

was arbitrarily set in the mind of the
attorney from the inception of the negotia-
tions, and quite regardless of any con-
sideration of the work likely to be involved.
It was at one time to cover both the appear-
ance at the Preliminary Enquiry and the sub-
sequent trial. It was not earned in respect
of the Preliminary Enquiry, yet no diminu-
tion of the set fee was ever suggesiéd,

It clearly appears that the attorney involved |
was in any event already briefed in respect :
of the second defendant or accused

Errol Williams, and in that regard would have

already incurred the necessity for travel to

and accommodation in Bermuda for the duration

of the trial. Presumably he charged Williams

a fee that would have reflected those expenses,

We are not told what that fee was. We are not

told that any reduction was made in it in

consideration of the fact that those expenses

would now be shared by the fee forthcoming from

the co-acdused Dillon.

It clearly emerges that a false representation
was made to the ciient Dillon to the effect

that the attorney was a Queen's Counsel, and
had presumably attained the status and standard
which such a2 counsel would be expected to enjoy,
with a consequent appreciation in the fees
expected to be paid for his services.

While the conclusion of such an agreement in the
cells, by a client who had already been in jail
for several months and who foresaw {accurately)
conviction staring him in the face; would not by
itself necessarily have led to the conclusion
that this was a setting that invited extortion,
yet when it is borne in mind that the attorney,
required the summary dismissal of the client's
previous attorney, this would appear to have
resulted in the dismissal of an independent mind
that might have given advice as to the wisdom of
one attorney (or set of attcrneys) appearing for
both accused, and also as to the fee charged.

The size of the fee charged, L.S$.$20,000.00
converted at the then rate to J%40,000.00 is on
the face of it exorbitant. It not only exceeds
by far the salary paid to a judge of the Supreme
Court for an entire year (perhaps the size of
judicial salaries in Jamaica is an unsafe guide),
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but it bears no relation tc any of the scale
of fees issued by the Jamaica Bar Association
for the guidance of practitioners as to
reasonable minimum charges to be made by
Junior Counsel or Queen's Counsel for con-
tested litigation in Jamaica. See the
"Recommended Scale of Counsel's Fees" set
out at pages 29 to 30 of the Practitioners
CGuide (referred to earlier) and said to have
been issued in October 1974 by the Jamaica
Bar Association. (The instant case was con-
ducted in 1978).

While it is true that those scale fees relate
primarily to civil litigation, and are
suggested minimums the fees charged in the

instant case exceed those by a proportion of
several fold.

) the size of the fee charged was not justified
by any evidence as to charges made in Jamaica
or in Bermuda for similar work for a client of
similar status, on a similar charge, by a
Junior or for that matter a Queen's Counsel.
In these circumstances the proviso to Section 21 (1)
applies and the Court may reduce the amount agreed to be payable
under such an agreement.,
On what basis should this Court act? Clearly in view of
the representation that the attorney was a Queen's Counsel the
very least that could be done is to reduce the fee by one third!

This clearly is a case falling within the observations of

Lord Hardwicke in Walmesley v. Booth (1941) and Saunderson v.

Glass (1742):

13

....for if an attorney, nendente lite, prevails
upon a client to agree to an exorbitant reward,
the court will either set it aside entirely, or
reduce it to the standard of those fees to which
he is properly entitled....."

Since the coming into effect of the Legal Profession Act
{1971) the Registrar of the Supreme Court, acting under the
provisions of Section 22 et. seq. has in fact had on occasion
to tax bills for criMinal work done by an attOrney for a client,
and in the absence of any clear evidence beforec us of the size

of fee that might be charged for similar work in either Bermuda

or Jamaica, I would propose that we refer the matter to the
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Registrar for taxation, which will give both the attorney and
the client the opportunity of producing any further evidence
that they have as to proper costs of transportation, hotel
accommodation etcetera, and also as to the fee in fact charged
of the co-accused Williams in this case. I am of opinion that
the appeal should be allowed in part, in that the judgment of
Downer, J. in favour of the respondent Dillon should be set
aside: the plaintiff's attorney to recover such costs or fees
for his work as may be certified to be reasonably payable by
the Registrar of the Supreme Court after taxation. The judgment
in favour of the respondent Sheba Vassell should stand. In
view of the fact that the fees charged will be reduced by over
one third at the very least, the appellant while getting the

and
costs in this Court,/the Court below should pay the costs of
taxation before the Registrar. Sheba Vassell should get her costs
in this Court and the Court below.

There are two remaining points to be noticed. The first
may be termed the ““‘conflict of Laws' point. It was sought to
be argued on appeal that Mr. Brown had appeared for Dillon as
a barrister called to the English bBar, rather than as an
attorney-a-law of the Jamaican Bar. This was a point on which
evidence could have been called at the trial below but was not,
and this Court held it was too late to raise it now. What was
involved was in fact a conflict of Laws point, and it arose in

R. v, Doutre (1884) 9 App. Case 745. 1In this Privy Council casu,

an appeal from Canada, Mr. Doutre, a member of the Quebec Bar
was asked to represent the Canadian Federal Government in
respect to some negotiation concerning fisheries which was to
take place in Halifax; according to the Law of Quebec members
of the Bar were entitled to sue for their fees and to recover
on a quantum.meruit if no fee had been fixed. According to the
Law of Ontario where the Federal Government was situate, and

also of Nova Scotia where the wWork was to be done, barristers



-74-

could not sue for their fees. On completion of the work a
dispute arose as to the fees payable, and Mr. Doutre had to sue
the Federal Covernment for his fees, and did so in Quebec.

The defence set up was that a barrister could not sue for his
fees. The defence failed. It was observed that if he had
appeared as a member of the English Bar he would not have been

able to recover any fees owing to the rule in Kennedy v. Broun

(ante). PFowever it appeared that he had been retained as a
member of the Quebec section of the Bar of Lower Canada and
consequently it was an implied condition of the employment that
the barrister retained there was to be remunerated on the same
terms on which these services were rendered to clients in Quebec<.
In the instant case it would have been a point to be decided on
evidence in what capacity Mr. Brown was employed to conduct a
criminal case in Bermuda, and depending on which legal system
was found to have the closest connection with the agreement as
to representation, it may or may not have been decided, subject
to what the Law of Bermuda provided, whether the defence could
have applied or not. It certainly could not have been argued
without evidence as to the situation in Bermuda, and at that
might not have succeeded.

The second point is shorter: I have suggested that the
Registrar of the Supreme Court be asked to tax Mr. Brown's bili:
Scction 21 (2) of the Act says that fees payable under an
agreement of this sort shall not be taxed. Yet it seems to me
that this would be a proper way in which to arrive at material
on which to base a reduction of the bill. Perhaps the way out
of this apparent impasse is to ask the Registrar to make a repor<

te this Court, and to give liberty to apply when it is made.
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The reference to the Registrar should be regarded as the
exercise of the Court's inherent jurisdiction over attorneys
as "officers of the Court", and is a jurisdiction separate and
distinct from that given by the statute. I have already cited
a number of cases in which the Courts in England have ordered
taxation though it was clear that this was not possible under
the U.K. Solicitors Acts. For convenience they are again

referred to: see In re Johnson § Weatherall (1888) 37 Ch. D.

433, (C.A) affirmed by the House of Lords in Storer § Co. v.

Johnson § Weatherall (1890) 15 A.C. 203 (ante); see also

In re Park, Cole v. Park (1889) 41 Ch. D. 326; In re Foss (1912)

2 Ch, D. 161; Jones § Son v. Whitehouse (1918) 2 K.B. 61 (C.A.).

In re a Solicitor (1961) 1 Ch D, 491 and Electrical Trades Union

v. Tarlo (1964) Ch. D. 720 are modern instances of assertions

of and exercise of this jurisdiction.

Finally I would draw attention to the fact that while in
the better known cases of "undue ihfluence” gifts, conveyances
and the like are set aside usually in their entirety, there
exists and derives from the same set of equitable principles
a doctrine often called "the unconscionable bargain' in which
what is involved is not a gift or voluntary conveyance, but a
bargain in which the inequality of the bargaining parties has
been such as to move the Court to set aside the bargain as
unfair: in these cases in as much as there has been some con-
sideration moving from the stronger to the weaker, the bargain
is usually set aside on terms which permit the return of the
consideration or a fair value for it. There are a long line of
cases dealing with this type of situation, starting from cases

such as Longmate v. Ledger (1860) Zz Giff 157; 66 E.R. 67;

Clark v. Malpas (1862) 31 Beav. 80; 54 E.R. 1067; Baker v. Monk

{1864) 33 Beav. 419; 55 E.R. 430; Fry v. Lanc (1888) 40 Ch. D. 312
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(urchases of land from poor and ignorant (and often senile)
people at a gross undervalue). See also cases such as

Blomley v. Ryan (1954) 99 C.L.R. 362 (High Court Australia);

Morrison v. Coast Finance Ltd. (1965) 55 D.L.R. (2D) 710 (C.A.

British Columbia following Fry v. Lane ante); Marshall v,

Canada Permanent Trust Co. (1968) 69 D.L.R. (2D) 60; citing an

article from the Canadian Bar Review Vol. 44, p. 142 entitled:
"Festitution - unconscionable transaction - Undue advantage
taken of inequality between parties’ by B. E. Crawford).

In this case Mr. Brown, the attorney-at~1aw, had rendered
services to the defendant Dillon. The bargain made as to fees
was unconscionable, and cannot stand, but to cite once more

Wilberforce, J. in the Electrical Trades Union v. Tarlo: (1964)

Ch. D. 720 at 734:

10

«.... the court has inherent jurisdiction to
secure that the solicitor, as an officer of the
court, is remunerated properly, and no more, for
the work he does as a solicitor.”
If Downer, J. had been referred to this line of authority,
the most recent exposition of which is to be found in the

judgment of Lord Denning, M.R. in Lloyds Bank v. Bundy (1975)

Q.B. 326; (1974) 3 All E.R. 757 at page 765, and which was
cited to us, doubtless he would not merely have set aside the

agreement as to fees, but would have gone on to consider, as was

done in several of the cases cited earlier, the further question

of what was the proper fee that should be awarded for the work

done here.

Since writing the above I have had the opportunity of reading

the judgment of Kerr, J.A. and though I would have been happier
to have the Registrar tax the appellant’s Bill I agree with the
judgment proposed by him which will, hopefully, secure finality

in respect of these unhappy proceedings.

e
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KERR, J.A.:

I have had the benefit of reading the draft of the
judgment of Carberry, J.A. in Wﬁich he has reviewed with
scholarly industry a number of cases relevant to the relation-
ship of solicitor and client and the changes brought about
by the fusion of the two branches of the profession - Solicitors
and BarristerS- by the Legal Profession Act and in which he has
carefully summarised the evidence.

I am in agreement with him that in respect to the appeal
against the judgment in favour of the respondent Vassell that
the appeal should be dismissed, the judgment in the Court below
affirmed with costs of appeal to the respondent for the reasons
set forth in his judgment.

With respect to the judgment in favour of the respondent
Dillon I agree that the appeal should be allowed, the judgment
in the Court below set aside and judgment entered for the
nlaintiff/appellant.

Faving regard to the full treatment given to the
questions raised on appeal by Carberry, J.A. this addendum of
rmine will conciszly be confined to the bare essentials.

The appellant's claim was for $39,000 for the balance
of professional fees due and owing for representing the
respondent Dillon in the High Court of Bermuda before judge and
jury in a criminal case in which the respondent and one
frrol Williams were jointly charged and tried for conspiracy
to import and importing a controlled drug, namely, ganja.

The action was brought pursuant to the right of action
and remedy provided by Section 21 of the Legal Profession Act
and, as a memorandum of agreement in writing,a document signed

by the appellant was exhibited and read:
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"I RAPFAEL CONSTANTINE DILLON, do hereby
retain Mr. Walter Bentley Brown, Q.C. of the
Jamaican Bar to conduct my Defence at my
trial for consplracy and importing cannabis
into Bermuda, in the Supreme Court of Rermuda
commencing 24th April, 1978 and agree to pay
to Mr. W, Bentley Brown the sum of TWENTY
THOUSAND U.S. DOLLARS (US$20,000) for his
professional services by 30th May, 1978, in
full. Dated this 24th day ot April, 1978
and signed by RAPFAEL DILLON."

The averments in the defence filed positively contended
to the following effect:

1. That the plaintiff at the trial
represented only the cc-defendant.

2. The respondent was not aware of the
nature of the document at the time he
signed it, because

3. The plaintiff had represented to him
that a juror.or jurors would be offered
a bribe to return a verdict in favour
of the respondent and the document was

required to guarantee that payment
,would be duly made

Evldence in support of these spec1f1¢ 1Ssues ‘was tenderad
for and on behalf of the respondent,~ There was thereforc an
inescapable @bllgatlon on the Learnea Tr1a1 Judge to deal with
these 1ssues. A p051the flndlng .on any of them would be
suff1c1ent to quDOrt a Judoment in favour of the rtspondept
Dillon. | Carberry9 J A has becn suff1C1ently cr1t1ca1 of thc’
Learned Tr1a1 JudVL s obllque treatment of thcse cardinal issues,
It is therefore, enough to say that he was, so preoccupled with
the unpnleaded and uncontested issue of undue 1nf1uence that he
omitted to express. 1n 51mp1e and. unamblpuous lanouage "his
finding on these 1ssue$.jn;iiw

However, 1m~11c1t 1n hls restlng hlS Judvment on undue
influence 1s that. he re;ected these SpGlelC averments by the
respondent Dillon. That conc1u51on is fortified by the fact that
the record of the Crlmlnal Proceed1n¢s relatlve to representat1on

and the Learned Trial’ Judge 5 f1nding supported the n1a1nt1ff S

claim that he appeared for‘the'defandants'
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The pleaded issues having been resolved in favour of

the plaintiff that ought to have been the ehd of the matter

save for consideration of the powet conferred on the Court

by Section 21 of the Legal Profession Act which provides:

1" (1)

(2)

An attorney may in writing agree
with a client as to the amoéunt and
manner of payment of fees. for the
whole or part of any lepal business
done or to be done by the attorney,
either by a gross sum or percentdge
or othetwise; so, however, that qﬁe
attorney making the agreement shall
not in relation to the same matters
make any further charges than those
provided in the agreement:

Provided that if in any suit commenced
for the recovery of such fees the
agreement appears to the court to be
unfair and unreasonable the court may
reduce the amount agreed to be payable
under the agreement.

Fees payable under such agreement shall
not be subject to the following pro-
visions of this Part relating to
taxation nor to any other provisions
thereof.

Mr. Fairclough by an application filed the morning fixed for

the hearing of the appeal anxiously sought leave to argue

grounds in an appended PRespondent's Notice. Leave was refused

for reasons which were indicated in the exchanges between Bench

and Bar and which reasons have been set forth in the judgment

of Carberry, J.A.

in this appeal is of general public importance and in deference to

Fowever, the specific question of undue influence raised

the arguments presented I feel constrained to add a few words of

my own.

grounds:

The arguments for the appellant were based on the following

1A (1)

The judgment subsumed an erroneous
proposition in law, that is, that

in the fiduciary relationship between
an attorney and client in a matter

of his remuneration, there is a »nre-
sumption of undue influence and that
independent legal advice was necessary
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""as to the remuneration a client must
pay. The learned trial judge mistook
the rule relating to transactions out-
side remuneration by applying such a
rule to retainers (be they by deed,
oral or written).

(2) The judgment was against the weight of
the evidence, particularly, as (a) it
was never disputed that the written
retainer was signed by the first
respondent and (b) the appellant
actually rendered his legal services
and paid expenses incidental to such
setvices out of his own pocket.”

i ; : ;-,‘. b I3 .
The learned judge after considering the circumstances

under which

~—”

And later:

And finally:

the document was signed said:

"The qhestiOn thereforq arises whether the.
equitable dottrine of undue influence is
applicable to the circumstances of this case,
to enable the document to be set aside as being
unconscionable.

There can be no doubt there was a special
relationship as explained in the leading case
of ALLCARD V. SKINNER (1887) 36 Ch. D. 145 and
there 1s the settled authority of WRIGHT v.
CARTER (1503) 1 Ch, 27, that the Lawyer/client

relationship presumes undue influence."

"It is to be noted that under the Doctrine of
undue influence where a swecial relationship
exists, the nresumption of undue influence
arises and it is for the plaintiff to rebut the
presumption. Nowhere has any attempt been made
to rebut the presumption in this case."

"The Doctrine of undue influence is intended
to help the weak, the aged, those with incapa-
cities - mental or otherwise and those in
custody. I do not wish to be understood or
construed that I am making any criticism of
Mr. Brown for his conduct in this case. In
appearing for the defence in Bermuda he
probably had to act with great haste and with
not enough time to deliberate on the finer
points of equity.

Nonetheless, he has brought forth this claim
and on the evidence, and the legal princinles
I have adverted to, I am compelled to dismiss
his claim set aside the contract and order that
Judgment be entered for the First and Second
Defendant with costs to be agreed or taxed."
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I interpret the judgment that the learned judge therein
held:

@ There was a presumption of undue
influence based upon the special
relationship of Attorney and Client.

(ii) In any event there was evidence from
: which undue influence may be inferred
and
(iii) In either case there was no evidence

in rebuttal from the plaintiff,

Mr. Macaulay submitted that the principle as to the
presumption of undue influencé’arising from the special
relationship between Attorney and Client applied to trans-
actions, e.g. sale, purchase, gift, where the relationship
alfeady existed and should not be extended to the hegotiations
bétweéh prospective client and attorney leading'up fo and
concluding with the establishment of such a relatioﬁShip an&
could not extend or include arrangements made for the payment
of fee$ for professional services rendered undér'thé’contract
ofyéef§ice, Fe contended that the cases on which the learned
judge religd both dealt with transactions:entefed'ihfo dﬁfing
the existence of the special relationship. Fﬁféﬁéf, that fhév
special pelaﬁionship may have such reésidual effect that gven
aftef.the relationship may technically be said to héve terminated,
the-undue influence may exist so as to set aside a tranéaction;

As illustrative he referred to Demerara Bauxite‘Co. Ltd, v.

Louisa Hubbard § Others (1923) A.C. 673 and McMaster v. Byrne

(1952) 1 All E.R. 1362. The Law applicable, argued Mr. Macaulay,
is cdntéined in Section 21 of the Legal Profession Act.
Neithef by presumption nor on the evidence was any  undue
influeﬁce made out against the plaintiff.

| Mr. Fairelough in éupporting the judgment submitted that
there was, apart from the presumption,; evidence upon which the
learned judge could find that there was undue influence. He

cited in support the case of Mearns v. Knapp (1889) 37 W.R. 58&5.
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I am in agreement with Mr. Macaulay that in the cases
on which the learned judge relied the special relationship
existed when the tranéactions were effected. I am therefore
of the view thét an in-depth examination of the dicta,
reasoning and the accepted propositions of Law in those cases
is unnecessary. Were it, as the learned trial judge held, then
before an attorney could conclude the business of his retainer
with a prospective client he had to ensure that the client had
independent advice otherwise the agreement as to his fees would
be unenforceable by action. It would be like employing a watch-
man to watch the watchman - so incongruous, inconvenient and
extravagant. There is neither good sense nor am I adverted to
any authorxity to support such a proposition. In that regard

Mearns v. Knapp is distinguishable and unhelpful to the

respondent. In that case Kekewich, J. observed:

"If I set aside this agreement I must

necessarily reserve the power to Mr., Knapp

to deliver a bill of costs which will be

subject to taxation in the usual way. And

it may be that if Mr. Knapp's view of the

matter is correct the taxing officer, with

whose discretion I must not in the slightest

degree interfere, may allow Mr. Knapp, not

only the forty guineas, but perhaps more."”
And although he held that the agreement was unfair and unreason-
able nevertheless, the solicitor was not, as in the instant case,
wholly deprived of his fees as the defendant consented to the
offer by the plaintiff of the scale charge fee of 30s. per cent.,
according to Schedule 1, Part I, of the General Order under the
Solicitors' Remuneration Act, 1881.

In holding that there was no presumption of undue
influence in the negotiations concluding with the establishment
of attorney and client relationship, I am not to be taken as
saying it could never occur. The absence of the presumption
means that the client has the burden of proving that there was

in fact undue¢ influence.
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Waving aside for the moment, the fact that the issue was
not raised on the nleadings as it should have been, the question
is, - was there evidence of undue influence that would render
the claim wholly unenforceable? From the judgment the learned

trial judge relied in the main on the following factors:

(1) The respondent Dillon was in custody
with serious charges against him.

(i1) The appellant represented both
defendants at the trial.

1ii) The respondent had no independent
advice on whether or nor there was any
disadvantage in having joint repre-
sentation at the trial.

iv) Appellant advised respondent not to
retain for the trial Miss Simmons who
represented him at the preliminary
examination.

v) That the respondent had no independent
advice on the quantum of remuneration.

(vi) The appellant misrepresented himself
as a Queen's Counsel.

Re (i) Above:

This would be common to all persons in custody
charged with a serious offence and that fact by
itself would not necessarily render a prisoner
incompetent to conclude a transaction of legal
representation.

Re (ii) and (iii):

There is no impropriety in an advocate repre-
senting defendants jointly charged with
criminal offences providing this could be done
without disadvantage or detriment to any one
of such defendants. There was no complaint
that there was any conflict of interest in the
defence or that the respondent was at a dis-
advantage by such representation.

Re (iv):

Retaining Miss Simmons would be an unnecessary
expense as the appellant had his own junior.

"Re (v) and (vi):

In my view these considerations go not to the
crcation of the contract of service, but to the
question of the unfairness and unreasonableness
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of the fees charged. Appellant personally
interviewed the respondent and concluded the
arrangements. In retaining the appellant to
represent him at the trial, it was clearly a
casc of "what you sce, is what you get."

Fowever there can be no doutt that a prisoner in custody
with serious charges pending against him would be anxious to
secure representation timeously. In the anxiety and urgency
of the moment he would obviously be at a disadvantage at the
bargaining counter in relation to his fees. Accordingly, the
Legislature in its wisdom, in granting a right of action to an
Attorney to recover fees based upon an agreement in writing,
conferred on the Court the discretion if the agreement appcared
unfair and unreasonable to reduce the amount vayable therecunder.

(Section 21 (1) of the Legal Profession Act - (supra)).

Surprisingly, the provisioens of Section 21 of the lLegal
Profession Act were not brought‘to the attention of Downer, J.
nor was he asked to consider the effect of those provisions in
relation to a finding in quantum meruit if he was of the view
that the amount stated in the agréément was unfair and unreason-
able. Instead, he Wrongly‘declined'to consider quantum meruit
because it was not‘pleaded. |

| dow it was highly improper and wholly inexcusable for
’Brownr“ ' to‘Stylé himself in the document as "Q.C." for dégpite
his mény years at thé’Barg hé has not been so honoured. The
hoﬁbhr'is’usually conferred on the basis of excellence in
édﬁbcécy; In‘representihg himself as 2 senior counsel to the
ﬁiéintiff it is reasamable to infer that he charged'fees
commensurate with that status. On that basis his retainer in

keeping with general practice should be one-third less.
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Further, the appellant had been retainedbbyéphewco-

defendant before concluding his arrangementswith the respondent

""and it is reasonable to infer that his expenses for travelling

tc Bermuda on behalf of the co-defendant were included in the
fees charged to that defendant.

..Accordingly, in all the circumstances including the
fact that he had not appeared in the Preliminary Examination
I am of the view that his global fee of $40,000.00 was manifestly
excessive, unfair and unreasonable.

On the otherhand in aSsessing what would be fair and
rcasonable, due regard mﬁst be given to the length of the trial -
the gravity of the charges and the jurisdiction in which the
cases were tried. With due consideration to these factors, I am
of the view that an award of $20,000.00 less $1,000.00 already
paid WOQid be adequate.

| Accordingly, I would enter judgment for the plaintiff for

$19,000.00 with tosts here and in the Court below.

ROSS, JiA.:

,kﬁéﬁiﬁé‘read the judgments of my learned brethren Kerr and
CarBefr?; %J.A. there is nothing that I can usefully add. I

agréeithét‘%he appeal must be allowed in so far as the respondent
Dillbﬁéﬁi@iSHCerned and that the appellant should be awarded
e w '

£19,000.00 as fees on a quantum meruit basis.




